



Join the Global Conversation

Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit

Department of Civil Society Studies, G8 Research Group at the Trinity College, Munk School of Global Affairs, University of Toronto February 2011

The G8 Research Group is based at Trinity College, Munk School of Global Affairs, University of Toronto. It is an international network of scholars, professionals and students interested in the activities of the Group of Eight (G8). Its mission is to serve as leading source of independent research and analysis on the G8, its member states and related institutions in the world.

This report was prepared by the G8 Research Group's Department of Civil Society Studies, 2011.

Director, Civil Society Studies

Abdi Aidid

Analysts

Sima Atri
Kwaku Boateng
Kate Bruce Lockhart
Carmen Celestini
Julian Dyer
Niamh Fitzgerald
Susan Hammond
Mahdi Hussein
Sara Lee
Rameez Mahmood

Laura Correa Ochoa

Contents

Introduction	4
Research Methodology	5
Developmental Non-governmental Organizations	6
Environmental Non-governmental Organizations	18
Public Policy Research Institutions (Think Tanks)	27
Human Rights Organizations	34
Summit Participation	
Faith-Based Organizations	
Celebrity Activists	
Service-Based Humanitarian Organizations	50
Philanthropic Foundations	
Trade Unions	
Educational Campaigns	60

Introduction

Since the term "civil society" first appeared in a G8 Summit document at the Halifax Summit in 1995, these organizations have been particularly strategic about their involvement with summit activities. In the past decade, demonstrations and NGO campaigns around the summits have garnered their fair share of media attention, with far-reaching demonstrations becoming increasingly commonplace.

According to the University of Toronto's Peter Hajnal, civil society's interaction with the G8 can be categorized into four distinct periods: 1981-1994, a "period of the earliest form of dialogue" and interaction; 1995-1997, a "period of formal recognition" by G8 member-states, and; 1998-present, a "period of well-structured cooperation." By 2006, they were being involved in formal consultations, albeit in a relatively minor capacity. Since then, civil society groups have been a mainstay.

The goal of the 2010-2011 Civil Society Studies Report is to provide an analysis of the strategies used by civil society groups to influence G8 decision-making, particularly in the time leading up to, during, and after the 36th Annual G8 Summit in Muskoka, Canada. To this end, we identified ten (10) civil society sub-groups that perceive G8 lobbying to be an important strategy to their organizational objectives. The sub-groups are:

- 1. Developmental Non-Governmental Organizations
- 2. Human Rights Groups
- 3. Environmental NGOs
- 4. Faith-Based Organizations
- 5. Philanthropic Foundations
- 6. Trade Unions
- 7. Public Policy Research Institutions (Think Tanks)
- 8. Service-Based Humanitarian Organizations
- 9. Celebrity Activists
- 10. Educational Campaigns

Some organizations — e.g., Oxfam and World Vision — fall into more than one category. In this report, their activities will be discussed in their relevant sub-groups (i.e., Oxfam's work on climate change initiatives under "Environmental Non-Governmental Organizations," World Vision's participation in the G8 World Religions Summit under "Faith-Based Organizations).

Note: All figures mentioned in the report are in U.S. dollars.

-

¹ Civil Society and the G8, presentation prepared for the Civil G8 Forum, 9-10 March 2006, Civil G8, (Moscow), 5 march 2006. Date of Access: 1 February 2011. http://en.civilg8.ru/1628.php. Please see the Halifax Summit Communique, 16 June 1995,

http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/summit/1995halifax/communique/index.html

² Civil Society at the Gleneagles Summit, G8 Information Centre (Toronto) 17 March 2006. Date of Access: 9 December 2010. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/scholar/hajnal 060309.html# ftn11.

Research Methodology

The scope of this report was determined using the London School of Economics Centre for Civil Society's definition of "civil society":

Civil society refers to the arena of uncoerced collective action around shared interests, purposes and values. In theory, its institutional forms are distinct from those of the state, family, and market, though in practice, the boundaries between state, civil society, family and market are often complex, blurred and negotiated. Civil society commonly embraces a diversity of spaces, actors and institutional forms, varying in their degree of formality, autonomy and power. Civil societies are often populated by organizations such as registered charities, development non-governmental organizations, community groups, women's organizations, faith-based organizations, professional associations, trade unions, self-help groups, social movements, business associations, coalitions and advocacy groups.³

The report assesses civil society's involvement with the G8 by analyzing strategies used by subgroups. Each report section was researched according to a standardized set of indicators:

- 1. The first strategy, **Policy, Press Statements and Utilization of Media**, details how subgroups used various communications mediums to lobby the G8 and engage with the wider public.
- 2. The second, **Summit Protests**, takes a look at demonstrations held by civil society subgroups. **Public Awareness Events** pays particular attention to campaigns mounted by civil society groups to lobby G8 member states and create public awareness of their objectives.
- 3. Collaborative Efforts examines cooperation between civil society groups.
- 4. **G8-Civil Society Initiatives** assesses official G8 engagement with civil society groups, such as formal consultations and special events.
- 5. Finally, **Summit Outcomes** are a discussion on the overall reaction of individual subgroups to the G8 Summit.

³ Osborne, Stephen. *The Third Sector in Europe: Prospects and Challenges*. New York: Routledge , 2008. 9. Print.

Developmental Non-governmental Organizations

Niamh Fitzgerald and Kwaku Boateng

Global development has been a fixture on G8 Summit agendas dating back to the group's very first meeting. Developmental NGOs aim to alleviate global poverty and promote sustainable development in impoverished countries of the world. At G8 Summits, developmental organizations lobby G8 leaders to prioritize global aid and adopt policies that (in their view) are favourable to long-term development. In the past, much of the attention given to international development has come in the way of empty promises by G8 leaders.

In recent years, Developmental NGOs have increasingly played a fundamental role in influencing the G8 agenda, monitoring the G8 countries' activities and pressuring international leaders to adhere to their summit commitments; these organizations are often some of the largest and most influential civil society actors. Developmental NGOs seek to address and combat economic, social and political problems in developing countries and strive to achieve solutions that promote sustainability and growth.

Developmental NGOs range from large, bureaucratic organizations such as the International Committee of the Red Cross and the Agha Khan Foundation to small grassroots organizations. Many of these organizations advocate for and work towards the fulfillment of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). Corresponding with the mandates of countless developmental organizations, the MDGs aim to eradicate extreme hunger and poverty, reduce child mortality, improve maternal health, combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases, achieve universal primary education and develop a global partnership for development (which includes the provision of Official Development Assistance (ODA) to least developed countries (LDCs) and African countries), among other goals.⁴

Developmental NGOs frequently make their views known through reports and communiqués that they publish as well as through the broader media. This has helped to generate a growing global public awareness of the G8's work. The G8 leaders, like all leaders, are extremely susceptible to public opinion and the ability of developmental NGOs to rile the public in support of their various causes has been nothing short of remarkable at past G8 summits. At the 2005 Gleneagles Summit, for example, the Make Poverty History Campaign had a pronounced impact on the G8 proceedings, as hundreds of thousands of people participated in peaceful demonstrations to show their support of Make Poverty History. Former British Prime Minister Tony Blair even remarked: "I can't think of a campaign that has been so brilliantly organized or struck such a chord with such a large number of people worldwide." The influence of the campaign was undoubtedly felt by the other G8 leaders as well that year, as they allocated a sum of USD50 billion towards aid, debt relief and trade.

⁵ Civil Society at the Gleneagles Summit, G8 Information Centre (Toronto) 17 March 2006. Date of Access: 9 December 2010. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/scholar/hajnal_060309.html#_ftn11.

⁴ Millennium Development Goals, United Nations Development Programme. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.undp.org/mdg/basics.shtml.

⁶ Civil Society at the Gleneagles Summit, G8 Information Centre (Toronto) 17 March 2006. Date of Access: 9 December 2010. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/scholar/hajnal 060309.html# ftn11.

The 2005 Gleneagles G8 Summit stands out as a significant success for developmental NGOs in influencing G8 decision-making.⁷ At Gleneagles, leaders of the G8 nations pledged to double global aid from USD25 billion to USD50 billion in five years, with half going to African states.⁸ Also at the 2005 Gleneagles Summit, the G8 promised that in five years, access to life-saving medication would be provided to every AIDS patient in the world.⁹ However, as of the 2010 Muskoka G8 Summit, the group was significantly behind on its 2005 promises.¹⁰

Against the backdrop of disappointment at the 2009 L'Aquila G8 Summit, many developmental NGOs viewed the 2010 Muskoka Summit as crucial for G8 accountability. Developmental NGOs participated at the summit with the aim of pushing the leaders to "reaffirm the Gleneagles commitments in the G8 communiqué and recognize their shortfall," and commit to additional funding to address the United Nations Millennium Development Goals. The Summit was also billed by the 2010 Canadian G8 Civil Society Coordinating Committee as Canada's opportunity to show its leadership in international development and environmental sustainability.

The agenda of the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit focused heavily on fostering global economic recovery in light of the recent global economic crisis. The primary development issue addressed was the improvement of maternal and child healthcare throughout the developing world. While some developmental NGOs lauded the G8 for their commitment to tackling these issues, many others were concerned that the group was not doing enough and were highly critical of the G8 countries regarding both their lack of compliance to past commitments to increase ODA and healthcare funding, and the limited nature of the 2010 commitments, which many claimed did not go far enough.

This report will detail the actions of developmental NGOs during the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit and their responses to the outcomes of the summit. Several NGOs utilized print, online and social media to make their opinions known to the broader public. Summit protests, however, were minimal. The increasing influence of developmental NGOs and other civil society actors was evident from the presence of many organizations at the summit itself, although media access proved to be a contentious issue.

⁸ G8 Muskoka Summit; Rich country donors still well off-track on their aid commitments, Asian Tribune (Bangkok), 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.asiantribune.com/news/2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments

 $\frac{http://www.asiantribune.com/news/2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments$

 $\frac{http://www.asiantribune.com/news/2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-commitments)}{(2010/06/28/g8-muskoka-summit-rich-country-donors-still-well-track-their-aid-country-d$

⁷ 2009 L'Aquila G8 Civil Society Report, G8 Research Group (Toronto). Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://g8live.org/2009 civsoc report.pdf

⁹ G8 Muskoka Summit; Rich country donors still well off-track on their aid commitments, Asian Tribune (Bangkok), 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011.

¹⁰ G8 Muskoka Summit; Rich country donors still well off-track on their aid commitments, Asian Tribune (Bangkok), 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011.

¹¹ G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings, Office of the Prime Minister (Huntsville) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://pm.gc.ca/eng/media.asp?id=3489.

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements and Utilization of Media

The 2010 Canadian G8 Civil Society Coordinating Committee developed a G8 Civil Society Platform and presented it to Prime Minister Steven Harper in the lead-up to the Summit. In a document it called an agenda for global development, the committee urged the Canadian government to "promote a new model of globalization that is socially responsible, economically sustainable, and environmentally just." Specifically, it called on Canada to create a G8 Agenda that prioritizes three interlinked areas: combating poverty, transforming the global economic and financial system, and acting on climate change.

Developmental NGOs across the globe called on the G8 leaders to reaffirm their commitment made at the 2005 Gleneagles Summit, to provide USD50 billion of aid to developing countries, USD25 billion of which would go to Africa. By all accounts, the G8 had fallen short of this promise. The Muskoka Accountability report released by the G8 reported an estimated USD7 billion shortfall. The ONE campaign's DATA report 2010 claimed that the G8 failed to reach its target by at least USD8.9 billion. According to the Africa Progress Report 2010, published by a unique panel of internationalists, chaired by Kofi Annan, the G8 would fall short by approximately USD9.8 billion by the end of 2010. These numbers indicated an immense failure on the part of the G8 and incited a great deal of pressure from developmental NGOs for the G8 to recommit itself to delivering the promised aid. Organizations entreated the G8 countries to maintain their commitment to the Gleneagles pledges and to continue to ardently pursue the MDGs by the year 2015.

Leading up to the summit, the ONE campaign published a policy brief entitled "Recommendations for the G8 and G20 Summits" wherein they outlined strategies centred around "accountability, transparency and poverty-reducing economic growth to accelerate progress towards the MDGs" and to achieve "the historic 2005 G8 commitments." Similarly, CARE International published policy recommendations for the Muskoka Summit, one of which was: "G8 governments must give priority to the world's poorest regions, giving special attention to responding to the needs in Africa, in line with the pledges made at Gleneagles and in support of the commitments and ongoing efforts of African countries, including in the context of the African Union." CARE International also advocated for more funding to "accelerate progress on

http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/news_item.cfm?news=3498&year=2010.

^{1 1}

¹²Canadian and African Activists Call On G8/G20 Leaders to Take Action on AIDS Crisis, Stephen Lewis Foundation (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/news_item.cfm?news=3498&year=2010.

¹³ Canadian and African Activists Call On G8/G20 Leaders to Take Action on AIDS Crisis, Stephen Lewis Foundation (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011.

¹⁴ Canadian and African Activists Call On G8/G20 Leaders to Take Action on AIDS Crisis, Stephen Lewis Foundation (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/news_item.cfm?news=3498&year=2010.

¹⁵ Recommendations for the G8 and G20 Summits, ONE (Washington) 11 May 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.one.org/c/us/policybrief/3318/.

¹⁶ CARE International Policy Recommendations: G8 Summit, Muskoka, Canada, 25-26 June 2010, CARE International (Geneva) 23 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://care-international.org/Download-document/533-CI-Brief-G8-Summit-June-2010.html.

MDGs" and commended the "Canadian government's prioritization of maternal, newborn and child health (MNCH) at the upcoming G8 Summit." ¹⁷

Other NGOs were less complimentary towards the G8. For example, three days before the summit, Stephen Lewis of the Stephen Lewis Foundation angrily criticized the G8 for "explicitly cutting back on funding for HIV/AIDS." He insisted that "if the G8 and G20 are to do more than dissemble, they have to match their actions to their commitments."

Still other developmental NGOs offered further recommendations and criticisms of the G8. In an article published in the Globe and Mail on 23 June 2010, Dr. James Orbinski and James Fraser, co-founders of Dignitas International, implored the G8 (and the Canadian government, in particular) not to neglect their Gleneagles commitment to ensure universal access to treatment for people living with HIV/AIDS by 2010, but rather, to "meet their prior commitments and global responsibilities" by increasing funding for treatment.²⁰

Médecins Sans Frontières (MSF) President Dr. Christophe Fournier warned that the G8 will fail to achieve their goal of improving maternal and child health in developing countries unless they "commit to reforming key parts of the global food aid system" to combat malnutrition.²¹ He further emphasized the importance of sustainable development, insisting that the fight against malnutrition requires sustainable sources of funding as opposed to "the one-shot pledges that G8 summits are prone to deliver."²²

On the eve of the Summit, Oxfam International issued a press release on its website calling for G8 leaders to keep the promises they made at the 2005 Gleneagles G8 Summit.²³ The Oxfam statement declared that the group was failing to live up to its commitment. As of June 2010, estimates held members as much as USD20 billion short of fulfilling the promise.²⁴ "Behind each dollar they fail to provide lies a child without schooling, a patient without medicine, a woman dying in childbirth for lack of care," said Mark Fried, spokesperson for Oxfam at the G8

¹⁷ CARE International Policy Recommendations: G8 Summit, Muskoka, Canada, 25-26 June 2010, CARE International (Geneva) 23 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://care-international.org/Download-document/533-CI-Brief-G8-Summit-June-2010.html.

¹⁸ Canadian and African Activists Call On G8/G20 Leaders to Take Action on AIDS Crisis, Stephen Lewis Foundation (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/news_item.cfm?news=3498&year=2010.

¹⁹ Canadian and African Activists Call On G8/G20 Leaders to Take Action on AIDS Crisis, Stephen Lewis Foundation (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.stephenlewisfoundation.org/news_item.cfm?news=3498&year=2010.

Will the world forfeit victory in the battle with AIDS?, The Globe and Mail (Toronto) 23 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.dignitasinternational.org/articles.aspx?aid=410.

²¹ G8: Reform Food Aid to Reduce Childhood Malnutrition, Medecins sans Frontieres (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.msf.ca/news-media/news/2010/06/g8-reform-food-aid-system-to-reduce-childhood-malnutrition/.

²² G8: Reform Food Aid to Reduce Childhood Malnutrition, Medecins sans Frontieres (Toronto) 22 June

²² G8: Reform Food Aid to Reduce Childhood Malnutrition, Medecins sans Frontieres (Toronto) 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.msf.ca/news-media/news/2010/06/g8-reform-food-aid-system-to-reduce-childhood-malnutrition/.

²³ Bounced Checks Undermine G8 Credibility, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2010-06-24/bounced-checks-undermine-g8-credibility
²⁴ Bounced Checks Undermine G8 Credibility, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8

²⁴ Bounced Checks Undermine G8 Credibility, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2010-06-24/bounced-checks-undermine-g8-credibility

Summit.²⁵ Freid went further by saving that "empty promises don't make nutritious meals, buy school books or life-saving medicines."²⁶

Global Call to Action against Poverty (GCAP) also released a press statement regarding the G8's pledges at the Gleneagles Summit. It called on the G8 leaders to acknowledge their previous commitments and develop a plan to deliver the aid they promised.²⁷ In addition, ONE Campaign European Director, Olly Buston held a media briefing to discuss the organization's expected summit outcomes.²⁸

On the opening day of the Summit, a coalition of developmental and environmental NGOs, trade unions, and faith-based organizations came together to present 1.7 million petitions to the G8 Leaders in a well-attended press conference.²⁹ Featuring speakers from GCAP, World Wildlife Fund (WWF), ActionAid, Canadian Labour Conference, and the Malawian Association of Midwives, the petition called on summit leaders to "keep their promises to the world's poor and invest in the future."³⁰ The organizations urged the G8 to show more accountability with regards to commitments on Maternal and Child Health, climate change effects on the developing world, HIV/AIDS treatment programs, and universal education.³¹

During the summit itself, representatives from several developmental NGOs gave interviews and published press releases encouraging the G8 leaders to comply with their commitments to help the world's poor and disadvantaged. On 25 June 2010, activists from Make Poverty History beseeched the G8 to take significant action in fighting poverty in developing countries and to deliver the remainder of the funds promised at the Gleneagles Summit.³²

Dorothy Ngoma, Executive Director of the National Organization of Nurses and Midwives in Malawi, criticized the G8 for their negligence in protecting the lives of women and their past failures concerning maternal and child health. She urged the G8 not to abandon the women who suffer due to lack of proper medical care and to fulfil their Gleneagles pledge of USD50 billion of

²⁵ Bounced Checks Undermine G8 Credibility, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011, http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2010-06-24/bounced-checks-undermineg8-credibility

26 Bounced Checks Undermine G8 Credibility, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8

January 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2010-06-24/bounced-checks-undermine-

g8-credibility
²⁷ NGOs Press Roundup: June 25, Sherpa Times, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/176-ngo-press-round-up-june-25th.html

²⁸ NGOs Press Roundup: June 25, Sherpa Times, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/176-ngo-press-round-up-june-25th.html

²⁹ Worldwide Petitions Call on Summit Leaders to Keep Promises, Sherpa Times, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011.

http://www.sherpatimes.com/images/stories/summits/NGO Petition News Release 25 June 2010FINAL.

pdf
30 Worldwide Petitions Call on Summit Leaders to Keep Promises, Sherpa Times, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011.

http://www.sherpatimes.com/images/stories/summits/NGO Petition News Release 25 June 2010FINAL.

pdf 31 Worldwide Petitions Call on Summit Leaders to Keep Promises, Sherpa Times, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011.

http://www.sherpatimes.com/images/stories/summits/NGO Petition News Release 25 June 2010FINAL.

pdf 32 At the Table Press Conference – June 25, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://g8live.org/at-the-table-press-conference-june-25/.

aid for the developing world.³³ Teresa Healy of the Canadian Labour Union encouraged the G8 to formulate and adhere to a concrete strategy to assist people living with HIV/AIDS throughout the developing world.³⁴

These and other developmental organizations made their views concerning the G8 and its agenda known through policy papers and publications on their websites, interviews with the press, newspaper articles, blogs, and various forms of social media including Twitter and Facebook.

The G8 leaders collectively acknowledged the influence of developmental NGOs and other civil society actors in a document entitled "G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings" published on 26 June 2010, which outlines the key commitments of the 2010 Muskoka Summit. The G8 leaders stated that the achievement of the MDGs by 2015 will require a collaborative global effort on behalf of national governments, international organizations, non-governmental organizations and civil society and other actors. ³⁵ Furthermore, the G8 commended NGOs for their commitment to developmental issues, saying "we welcome the ongoing research and advocacy of international NGOs and local civil society as an important contribution to [development]."

Summit Protests

Perhaps because of its remote location, the 2010 Summit saw no significant protests by developmental NGOs. Much media attention was focused on the subsequent G20 Summit in Toronto, which saw unprecedented protests, demonstrations, and marches by a number of civil society groups in the days leading up to meeting.³⁷ The little demonstration that drew media attention at the G8 Summit was Oxfam International's Big Heads publicity stunt.³⁸ The organization staged a demonstration in which people wearing giant heads of G8 leaders were concealing themselves behind a banner stating "Keep Your Promises." The banner then slipped and the Big Heads were left exposed, with only little maple leafs covering their private parts.

During the summit itself, the developmental NGO Oxfam staged a publicity stunt to encourage the G8 leaders to place extreme poverty on the agenda and devote significant attention to this pressing development issue. The stunt featured the protestors wearing giant papier-mâché heads of the leaders of the G8 countries.³⁹ The Oxfam Big Heads garnered significant media attention

January 2011. http://g8live.org/at-the-table-press-conference-june-25/.

³³ At the Table Press Conference – June 25, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://g8live.org/at-the-table-press-conference-june-25/.

³⁴ At the Table Press Conference – June 25, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7

³⁵ G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings, Office of the Prime Minister (Huntsville) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://pm.gc.ca/eng/media.asp?id=3489.

³⁶ G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings, Office of the Prime Minister (Huntsville) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://pm.gc.ca/eng/media.asp?id=3489.

³⁷ Developing Countries Join G8 at Huntsville Summit, CTV News (Toronto), 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://www.ctv.ca/CTVNews/TopStoriesV2/20100625/g8-meetings-begin-100624
³⁸ The Naked Truth Revealed Today in Huntsville, Canada, Oxfam International, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 8 January 2011. http://blogs.oxfam.org/en/blog/10-06-25-naked-truth-revealed-today-huntsville-canada

³⁹ Developing countries join G8 at Huntsville summit, CTV News (Huntsville) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.ctv.ca/CTVNews/TopStoriesV2/20100625/g8-meetings-begin-100624/.

with their various demonstrations, one of which featured them positioned behind a large banner stating "Keep Your Promises." 40

Public Awareness Events/Workshops

Following the end of the 2010 G8 Summit, World Vision Canada put together a visual representation titled "Pregnant with Promises" at a cathedral in Toronto. 41 Advertised as a representation of what occurred at the summit, the visual display portrayed G8 leaders as pregnant with the promises they made regarding Maternal and Child Health. The purpose was to educate the public on the pledges made by the leaders and to hold them accountable to them.

Collaborative Efforts (NGO Forum and External Partners)

On the first day of the summit, 25 June 2010, a conglomerate of developmental NGOs and coalitions (including ActionAid, Make Poverty History, the Canadian Council for International Co-operation and the Association of Malawian Midwives) as well as other civil society actors collaborated to present global petitions with over 1.7 million signatures to the G8 (and G20) leaders. The NGOs collectively urged the G8 leaders to respond to the wishes of their citizens and others across the globe by taking affirmative action that will produce tangible results on matters of development, particularly in regard to maternal and child health, treatment for people living with HIV/AIDS and access to universal education. Although no official statement was released by Canadian Prime Minister Stephen Harper on the nature or influence of the petitions, the numbers were recorded by the Prime Minister's Office prior to the summit.

Various other developmental NGOs joined forces to make a last-minute push on the final night of summit negotiations to get the G8 to address the 2005 Gleneagles commitments in its final communiqué. Among others, the organizations included At the Table/Make Poverty History, Oxfam International, and ONE Campaign. The Muskoka Summit saw no discussion on the critically important pledge, toward which, set to expire in 2010, the G8 had made little progress. For this reason, getting the G8 leaders to include language acknowledging the 2005 commitment in its 2010 Summit communiqué was crucial. Much to the disappointment of developmental NGOs and other civil society organizations, the Gleneagles pledge was not mentioned in the Muskuko G8 Summit final communiqué.

⁴⁰ The naked truth revealed today in Huntsville, Canada, Oxfam International Blogs, Phoebe Stevens (Huntsville) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://blogs.oxfam.org/en/blog/10-06-25-naked-truth-revealed-today-huntsville-canada.

⁴¹ G8 Leaders were Pregnant with Promises – What did they Deliver? World Vision Canada, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 9 January 2011. http://www.worldvision.ca/About-Us/Newsroom/press-releases/Pages/g8-leaders-were-pregnant-with-promises-what-did-they-deliver.aspx
⁴² NGO Press Events – 25th June, The Sherpa Times (Huntsville) 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January

⁴² NGO Press Events – 25th June, The Sherpa Times (Huntsville) 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/163-ngo-press-events-25th-june.html.

⁴³ NGOs present 1.7 million petition to G8, The Sherpa Times (Huntsville) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/171-ngos-present-17-million-petition-to-g8.html.

⁴⁴ NGOs present 1.7 million petition to G8, The Sherpa Times (Huntsville) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/171-ngos-present-17-million-petition-to-g8.html.

⁴⁵ 11th Hour Push by NGOs, Sherpa Times, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 9 January 2011.

http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/166-11th-hour-push-by-ngos.html

46 11th Hour Push by NGOs, Sherpa Times, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 9 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/166-11th-hour-push-by-ngos.html

G8-Civil Society Initiatives

As representatives for political leaders of the host nation of the G8 Summit, sherpas consult with other G8 leaders and prepare the agendas for the G8 Summit.⁴⁷ In preparation for the 2010 Summit, the sherpas organized a "Civil-G8 Dialogue" with 60 civil society advocacy groups from around the world to discuss policy and summit expectations.⁴⁸ While there was some disagreement at the meeting, the general agreement was that the G8 was failing to meet its previously made commitments on aid and development.

Leading up to the summit, Make Poverty History successfully lobbied the Canadian government to create a G8 Accountability Report assessing progress on G8 commitments at past summits.⁴⁹ The report detailed the group's activities, addressing key promises on issues such as health, debt relief, education, food security, and the environment.

In an uncustomary move, the Canadian government created an Alternative Media Centre distinctly for civil society organizations, including national and international NGOs, Student and Trade Unions, and bloggers. 50 Civil society was isolated from the main media centre, where the rest of the world's mainstream media received access to cover news and events of the summit. It was further revealed that the Alternative Media Centre did not have facilities for press conferences.51

A number of leading NGOs, including the Canadian Federation of Students, Oxfam, Greenpeace International, GCAP, and three other organizations released a joint press statement condemning the Canadian government for what they called its "media apartheid." The organizations called the isolation of civil society at the summit unbecoming of Stephen Harper's government. Developmental NGOs were not well accommodated at the 2010 G8 Summit.

There was considerable controversy surrounding the restrictions placed on representatives of developmental NGOs who attended the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit. While professional journalists were housed in the International Media Centre (IMC), NGO representatives were restricted to the Alternative Media Centre that was separated from the IMC by a busy street, a wire fence and concrete barriers.⁵³ Few NGO representatives were given full access to the IMC

http://www.sherpatimes.com/about.html

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

⁴⁷ About the Sherpa, Sherpa Times. Date of Access: 9 January 2011.

⁴⁸ Progress in Combating Poverty Under Threat, Anti-Poverty Activists Tell G8 Policy Makers, Make Poverty History, 16 April 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/evaluations/2010muskoka/mph.pdf

⁴⁹ Highlights of 2010, Make Poverty History. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.makepovertyhistory.ca/campaign-highlights#2010

⁵⁰ NGOs Give G8-G20 Failing Grades, Rabble (Toronto), 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://rabble.ca/news/2010/06/ngos-give-g8-g20-failing-grades

⁵¹ NGOs Give G8-G20 Failing Grades, Rabble (Toronto), 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://rabble.ca/news/2010/06/ngos-give-g8-g20-failing-grades

⁵² GCAP Releases Press Statement Denouncing "Media Apartheid at the G8/G20 Summit, G8 Information Centre (Toronto), 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-pressstatement-denouncing-media-apartheid-at-the-g8g20-summit/
Tarper shut-out: NGOs excluded from G8, G20, Now Toronto (Toronto) 30 June 2010. Date of Access:

⁷ January 2011. http://www.nowtoronto.com/guides/g20/2010/story.cfm?content=175774.

and although some others managed to obtain temporary passes for a day, it involved a "long and cumbersome" process.54

The Global Call to Action Against Poverty (GCAP), an alliance of developmental NGOs and other civil society actors, put out a press release following the summit wherein Kumi Naidoo, cochair of GCAP, described the segregation of journalists and NGO representatives as "media apartheid."55 The press release, which was signed by several other developmental NGOs as well as GCAP, including Make Poverty History, Oxfam, Global Health Council and ActionAid, called the separation of media "a clear attempt to limit access and dampen voices that present an independent view of the G8."56

Amy Boldosser of Family Care International expressed her frustration at being denied full access to the IMC, saying that "the Alternative Media Center is the Canadian government's inelegant solution to concerns that civil society representatives from a broad range of issues would generate negative media coverage of G8 and G20 and their failure to meet past commitments."⁵⁷ Similarly, Dennis Howlett, the Canadian coordinator of Make Poverty History remarked that civil society was treated much more equitably and received full access to the IMC at the past two G8 Summits in Italy and Japan. He stated that the media restrictions at the 2010 Muskoka Summit are "an indication that the Canadian government does not recognize the important role civil society plays."58

Although the Canadian government has often acknowledged and commended developmental NGOs and other civil society actors for their work and advocacy on important issues pertaining to development, this fiercely contested media segregation does not bode well for the relationship between the Canadian government and civil society. It perhaps indicates that the Canadian government either feared the criticisms of NGOs and their ability to sway public opinion or that they did not fully appreciate the influence and importance of NGOs and their ability to provide expertise on matters of development.

Summit Outcomes

The outcomes of the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit inspired a variety of reactions from developmental NGOs. Some were pleased with the G8 commitments, particularly the maternal and child health initiative, but many others expressed disappointment, claiming that the G8 countries were not doing enough to combat poverty, disease and to promote development.

Amongst those NGOs that praised the summit outcomes was World Vision. World Vision's CEO, Dave Toycen, congratulated Prime Minister Harper "for his strong leadership putting the world's

⁵ GCAP releases press statement denouncing "media apartheid" at the G8/G20 Summit, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-pressstatement-denouncing-media-apartheid-at-the-g8g20-summit/.

⁵⁴ GCAP releases press statement denouncing "media apartheid" at the G8/G20 Summit, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-pressstatement-denouncing-media-apartheid-at-the-g8g20-summit/.

⁵⁶ NGOs Criticise Canada on Press Access, The Sherpa Times (Toronto) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011, http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/182-ngos-criticise-canada-on-press-access.html.

⁵⁷ Civil society continues to express disappointment about G8/G20 Summit arrangements, G8 Research Group (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://g8live.org/civil-society-continuesto-express-disappointment-about-g8g20-summit-arrangements/.

58 Harper shut-out: NGOs excluded from G8, G20, Now Toronto (Toronto) 30 June 2010. Date of Access:

⁷ January 2011. http://www.nowtoronto.com/guides/g20/2010/story.cfm?content=175774.

children and mothers on the G8 agenda and offering new money."⁵⁹ World Vision also applauded the G8's commitment to annually publish their aid figures in a step towards greater transparency and accountability. Despite the commendations, however, World Vision did caution that these promises must now "translate into action."⁶⁰

Other NGOs were more sparing with their praise. Save the Children welcomed the maternal and child health initiative as a life-saving breakthrough for children throughout the developing world, but criticized the lack of attention given to the fulfillment of the Gleneagles commitments. Likewise, ONE applauded the USD5 billion contribution towards maternal and child health but warned that much more than this amount would be needed in order to achieve the MDGs of improving maternal health and reducing child mortality by 2015. CARE International similarly commended the Canadian government for dedicating so much attention to maternal and child health but was disappointed and "disheartened" that this resulted in a collective contribution of only USD5 billion from the G8 countries.

At the most critical end of the NGO spectrum, Oxfam called the Muskoka Summit a "summit of shame" and admonished leaders for freezing aid and for failing to deliver on their promises to help the world's poor. ⁶⁴ The maternal and child health initiative, they declared, was a small and inadequate commitment that was put forth to draw attention away from the G8's other broken promises.

Along with Oxfam, a number of other developmental NGOs contended that by making maternal and child health its new focus, the G8 essentially found a way to shirk promises it made at the Gleneagles Summit in 2005.⁶⁵ With the Gleneagles pledge expiring in 2010, developmental NGOs were unsuccessful in getting the G8 to create an emergency plan addressing the commitment in the Muskoka Summit communiqué. The G8 effectively reneged on its promises made in 2005, with no mention of the Gleaneagles commitment in the Muskoka Initiative.

In the wake of the G8's revelation of its new initiative, Oxfam commented that "No maple leaf is big enough to hide the shame of Canada's summit of broken promises. The G8's failure will leave a sad legacy of kids out of school, denied medicines for the sick and no food for the

⁵⁹ World Vision on the Muskoka Initiative: Today's G8 announcement means more children will reach their fifth birthdays, World Vision (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.worldvision.ca/About-Us/Newsroom/press-releases/Pages/todays-g8-announcement-means-more-children-will-reach-their-fifth-birthdays.aspx.

⁶⁰ G8 leaders taking baby steps in the right direction, World Vision (Toronto) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.worldvision.ca/About-Us/Newsroom/press-releases/Pages/g8-leaders-taking-baby-steps-in-the-right-direction.aspx.

⁶¹ G8 Summit – NGO Responses, The Sherpa Times (Huntsville) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html.

⁶² More on the Muskoka Initiative, ONE Blog, Nora Coghlan, 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.one.org/blog/?p=16841.

⁶³ CARE Gives G8 a Yellow Card for Performance on Maternal Health; Pleads with World Leaders to Fill Remaining Funding Gap at Upcoming Millennium Development Summit, CARE International (Toronto) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.care.org/newsroom/articles/2010/06/g8-disappointment-with-leaders-2010/626.asp.

disappointment-with-leaders-20100626.asp.

64 G8's summit of shame fails people living in poverty, Oxfam Canada (Toronto) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2119.

⁶⁵ G8 Summit – NGO Responses, Sherpa Times, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html

hungry."66 The same sentiment was echoed by GCAP, which said that the Muskoka Initiative was "a step back." Other developmental NGOs that found the initiative disappointing include The Global Campaign for Education, ActionAid, and Making Poverty History, among others.⁶⁷

Make Poverty History stated that the USD5 billion pledge by G8 leaders to improve maternal and child health was too small a contribution to alleviate the suffering of women and children in developing countries. They called the maternal and child health initiative a "dismal failure." ⁶⁸ In a press release issued on 26 June 2010, the coalition of NGOs declared that other commitments from the summit offered little to justify the continued existence of the G8.⁶⁹

ActionAid's criticism was directed towards the G8's inability to once again meet the promises made at the 2005 Gleneagles Summit. Spokesperson Henry Malumo pondered how the G8 could hope to maintain its credibility and accountability with the new maternal health initiative while continuing to ignore past and outstanding commitments from 2005.⁷⁰

The Muskoka Initiative also received praise, albeit tepid. In a press release, World Vision remarked that it is pleased with the initiative on maternal and child health, but added that "the sense of urgency is missing." Dave Toyce, CEO of World Vision Canada, applauded Canadian Prime Minister Stephen Harper for his "strong leadership" but tempered his praise, adding that the G8's commitment "looks more like a small down payment than an adequate investment, and won't reach as far as it must to stop needless early deaths."⁷¹

Perhaps the strongest approval for the Muskoka Initiative came from the Partnership for Maternal, Newborn, and Child Health (PMNCH), which welcomed it as an important step. Global Health Council also welcomed the G8's initiative, but regretted the group's omission of the Gleneagles promises from its final communiqué. ONE Campaign, Save the Children, and UNICEF all responded to the initiative with somewhat reluctant praise.

Overall, reaction to the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit from developmental NGOs was more negative than positive. While the G8's new pledge of USD5 billion promises to prevent the deaths of 1.3 million children and 64, 000 mothers, for developmental NGOs, the group's abandonment of the

⁶⁶ G8 Summit – NGO Responses, Sherpa Times, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html

⁶⁷ G8 Summit – NGO Responses, Sherpa Times, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html

⁶⁸ G8 Maternal Child Health Initiative A Dismal Failure Prime Minister Unable To Rally Support Needed, Make Poverty History Canada (Toronto) 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.makepovertyhistory.ca/story/g8-maternal-child-health-intiative-a-dismal-failure-primeminister-unable-to-rally-support-nee.

⁶⁹ G8 Leaders Offer Little And Fail To Hold Themselves Accountable, Make Poverty History Canada (Toronto) 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.makepovertyhistory.ca/story/g8leaders-offer-little-and-fail-to-hold-themselves-accountable.

⁷⁰ G8 summit focuses on accountability, but where is it?, The Christian Science Monitor (Toronto) 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 7 January 2011. http://www.csmonitor.com/World/Americas/2010/0627/G8-summitfocuses-on-accountability-but-where-is-it/(page)/2.

⁷¹ World Vision on the Muskoka Initiative: Today's G8 Announcement Means More Children will Reach Their Fifth Birthdays, World Vision Canada, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://www.worldvision.ca/About-Us/Newsroom/press-releases/Pages/todays-g8-announcement-meansmore-children-will-reach-their-fifth-birthdays.aspx

72 G8 Summit – NGO Responses, Sherpa Times, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011.

http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html



⁷³ Full Text: G8 Communiqué from Huntsville, National Post (Toronto), 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January 2011. http://news.nationalpost.com/2010/06/26/full-text-g8-communique/#ixzz1Azh0jxsn

Environmental Non-governmental Organizations

Kate Bruce-Lockhart

In recent years, G8 nations have paid increasing attention to environmental sustainability. Increased public and political attention to the issue of climate change in particular has generated a much greater focus on the environment in the G8 sphere. Since the 2005 summit in Gleneagles, Scotland, climate change has occupied a central place in G8 negotiations. At this summit, G8 leaders acknowledged "that climate change is happening now, that human activity is contributing to it, and that it could affect every part of the globe." Environmental non-government organizations (eNGOs) have exerted considerable pressure on the G8 to augment its commitment to combating climate change and assuming responsibility for environmental stewardship. These groups have emerged as prominent players in civil society, making their presence known both at summits and throughout the year through protests, publicity stunts, policy recommendations, public polls on desired environmental outcomes, social media, evaluations of G8 nations' environmental efforts, and awareness campaigns.

Greenpeace International has been a leader in pressuring the G8, through protests, policy papers, and awareness campaigns. During the 2009 Summit in L'Aquila Italy, Greenpeace received major press coverage for its protest events. Their activists were arrested for scaling Mt. Rushmore to hang a banner that read "America Honors Leaders Not Politicians: Stop Global Warming." ⁷⁵ Additionally, Greenpeace is active in releasing both policy recommendations and evaluations of G8 Summits, as well pre-summit preparations. ⁷⁶ In recent years, they have strongly advocated for higher emission reduction targets and more G8 funding to help developing countries mitigate the effects of climate change. ⁷⁷

The World Wildlife Federation (WWF) has also been a key eNGO in placing pressure on the G8. They have been integral in monitoring the performance of G8 nations in regards to the environment through their "Climate Scorecards," which have garnered major media attention. In addition, WWF also puts out regular press releases relating to environmental concerns leading up to the G8 Summits, as well publishing their assessment of each summit's outcome.

There are numerous other eNGOs that engage with the G8 on a regular basis. Oxfam International assumed an increasingly prominent role in the 2010 Muskoka Summit, making action on climate change one of their three key summit focuses. They also gained attention for their environmental activism at the L'Aquila Summit, with their protest depicting G8 leaders cooking

_

⁷⁴ Jenilee M. Guebert, Sarah Cale and Laura Sunderland, Climate Change Conclusions at G8 Summits 1975-2009, G8 Research Group (Toronto), 25 November 2009. Date of Access: 10 January, 2011. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/conclusions/climatechange.pdf

⁷⁵ David Farenthold, Greenpeace Activists Arrested After Draping a Banner on Mt. Rushmore, The Washington Post (Washington), 8 July 2009, Date of Access: 8 January, 2011. http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2009/07/08/AR2009070802246.html.

⁷⁶ Dave Martin, "Time for G8 Action – No Warming/No War," Greenpeace Canada, 29 March, 2010. Date of Access: 8 January, http://www.greenpeace.org/canada/en/Blog/time-for-g8-action-no-warming-no-war/blog/4008.

⁷⁷ Dave Martin, "Time for G8 Action – No Warming/No War," Greenpeace Canada, 29 March, 2010. Date of Access: 8 January, http://www.greenpeace.org/canada/en/Blog/time-for-g8-action-no-warming-no-war/blog/4008.

war/blog/4008. ⁷⁸ "G8-G20 Summits 2010," Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/what-we-do/campaigns/g8-g20-summits-2010.

the earth in a giant cauldron. 79 Other eNGOs that have been active in recent summits include Friends of the Earth International, the International Union for the Conservation of Nature, the Pembina Institute, and the Climate Action Network. Local eNGOs tend have also played an active part in summits based in their home nation, such as Legiambente during the L'Aquila Summit, or the Canadian Youth Climate Coalition at the Muskoka Summit.

In addition to acting individually, eNGOs have been part of collective efforts to compel the G8 to take action. At the 2007 Summit in Heiligendamm, Germany, over 400 eNGOs came together under the umbrella of the Climate Action Network to prepare a report detailing civil society's environmental demands.⁸⁰ They are usually included in G8 Environment Minister's pre-summit meetings, and have also been involved in alternative civil society summits. During the 2010 Muskoka summit, several eNGOs sat on the steering committee of the People's Summit, which launched a major campaign called "At the Table" to encourage citizens to pressure the G8 for constructive change on issues such as the environment.⁸¹ eNGOs have also historically joined together to write letters to G8 leaders, advising them on what action to take at upcoming summits and advocating for particular policy outcomes.

Generally, eNGOs have been disappointed and highly critical of G8 summit outcomes with regards to the environment. Most cite the lack of funding for environmental initiatives, the dearth of leadership and initiative from G8 nations, and the poor environmental policies of G8 nations as major issues. Nevertheless, eNGOs continue to lobby the G8 for greater commitments to protect the environment.

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements, and Utilization of the Media

During the period immediately prior to the Muskoka Summit, as well as the Summit itself. eNGOs found multiple ways to garner media attention. In the month of June, a number of eNGOs released publications on their website to make their expected outcomes for the G8 Summit clear. Greenpeace International published a G8/G20 action checklist on their website. Four main demands were put forth: leaders must honor their promise to keep global temperature rise below 2 degrees Celsius, phase out the fossil fuel industry, create financial and regulatory framework that createsincentives for a green economy, and provide funds to help developing countries adapt to climate change rather than subsidizing fossil fuels.⁸²

WWF also published a series of demands on their website prior to the G8 summit. In the "G8/G20 Summit" position paper, they called the upcoming summits a "major opportunity" to

http://peoplessummit2010.ca/section/.

http://www.greenpeace.org/international/Global/international/publications/climate/2010/Greenpeace%20G 8G20%20checklist%202010.pdf

⁷⁹ Ariel David, "G8 Protesters Strip Down, Scale Smokestacks, Occupy Power Plants," The Huffington Post, 8 July 2009. Date of Access: 5 January, 2011. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2009/07/08/g8protesters-get-naked-s n 228061.html.

⁸⁰ Katharine Watts, "International Energy and Climate Policy: NGO Expectations," Climate Action Network Europe. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.forumue.de/fileadmin/userupload/g8dialogue/civil g8 dialogue ws climate pp watts.pdf.

^{81 &}quot;Who Are We?" The People's Summit. Date of Access: 10 January, 2011.

^{82 &}quot;G8/G20 Climate Action Checklist," Greenpeace International, 23 June 2010. Date of Access: 6 January

move forward on climate change after the Copenhagen last December. 83 Like Greenpeace, they put forth four demands: reduce emissions by reaffirming their commitment to the Copenhagen Accord (limit warming to two degrees), provide funds for developing countries, ensure accountability of G8 nations through compliance reports and providing more access to civil society. 84 For each request, they provided a more detailed breakdown of their expectations, as well as indicators that could be used to track progress. 85 WWF also called on Canada to step up and provide leadership by putting climate high on the summit agenda. 86

Oxfam Canada, who has also been a leader in environmental activism, also drew attention to the need for G8 action on the environment through various media outlets. Along with the At the TableCampaign, a coalition of civil society organizations, they created a series of photographs depicting Canadian Prime Minister Stephen Harper holding a modified Canadian five-dollar bill that read "1 billion, climate cash, 2010-2011" and changed the typical snow-filled ice hockey scene to one affected by climate change, where the snow and ice on the rink had melted.⁸⁷ Some of these photos were also posted on the photo-sharing website flickr as part of a larger photo campaign run by At the Table designed to grab G8 leaders' attention. 88

Pre-Summit Protests

Protests, one of the most common media generating activities at previous summits, were a key tool for eNGOs. As was the case in past summits, Greenpeace was active in protesting during the lead-up to the Muskoka Summit. In a notable off-site protest, three activists attempted to scale Mt. Logan, hoping to hang a banner with the message "G8/G20: Stop Climate Change." 89 Greenpeace is known for this sort of protest, as it has used banners in prominent locations at past summits to get their message across to G8 leaders. During the 2009 Summit in L'Aquila, over one hundred Greenpeace activists occupied four major coal fired power stations across the country, generating major media attention. 90

The protest for this year on Mt. Logan was less successful. Due to some safety concerns, the activists had to turn back, and were unable to finish their climb. Despite this, they still used media coverage of the event to get their message out. 91 In a CBC report on the attempted climb, Greenpeace Canada spokesperson Alex Paterson commented on the lack of new green

^{83 &}quot;G8 and G20 Summits 2010," WWF. Date of Access: 5 January, 2011.

http://wwf.panda.org/what we do/footprint/climate carbon energy/climate agreement/news/g8g20/

⁸⁴ "G8 and G20 Summits 2010," WWF. Date of Access: 5 January, 2011.

http://wwf.panda.org/what we do/footprint/climate carbon energy/climate agreement/news/g8g20/

^{85 &}quot;WWF Position Paper: G8/G20 Summits 2010," WWF. 9 June 2010, Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://assets.panda.org/downloads/wwf g8 g20 4p per pagesfinal.pdf.

^{86 &}quot;WWF Recommendations and Asks for the G8 and G20 Summits 2010," WWF. 9 June 2010, Date of Access: 5 January 2011.

http://wwf.panda.org/what we do/footprint/climate carbon energy/climate agreement/publications/positi on papers/?193745/WWF-Recommendations-and-Asks-for-G8-Summit-and-G20-2010.

87 "Global Day of Action," Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011.

http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2048.

⁸⁸ "At the Table's 2010 Photostream," flickr. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.flickr.com/photos/47652181@N06/with/4706430394/.

^{89 &}quot;Greenpeace activists abort Mt. Logan climb," CBC News, 24 June, 2010, Date of Access: 6 January 2011, http://www.cbc.ca/canada/north/story/2010/06/24/greenpeace-g20-mount-logan.html.

⁹⁰ John Hooper, "Greenpeace activists hijack Italian power stations," The Guardian (London), 8 July 2009. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2009/jul/08/greenpeace-g8-

protest-coal-italy
91 "Greenpeace activists abort Mt. Logan climb," CBC News. 24 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.cbc.ca/canada/north/story/2010/06/24/greenpeace-g20-mount-logan.html.

technology: "Leaders like the G8 and G20 leaders have not created the space for that low-carbon green economy and for new technologies to grow." 92

A number of eNGOs, including Oxfam Canada, WWF Canada, and the Climate Action Network ran a "Toxic Tour" of Toronto as a form of protest. ⁹³ The event was staged in the financial district of Toronto, and was held as part of the "Global Day of Action" on June 17th. ⁹⁴ The protest was designed to draw attention to inordinate costs of the G8 summit itself, which Oxfam portrayed as creating funding shortfalls for climate change initiatives. ⁹⁵

In a press release outlining the event, Oxfam Canada Executive Director Robert Fox commented on the need for more climate change funding:

How far can \$1 billion go? It can pay for three days of security or it can help millions of people adapt to the impact of climate change over the next three years...That's Canada's fair share of climate costs and we owe it to the world's poorest, who are being hit first and hardest. They can't live with broken promises or wait for the next summit for adaptation financing to finally flow.⁹⁶

Zoë Caron of the At the Table Campaign said the rally was meant to draw attention to the subsidies given to the fossil fuel sector. "The government has to end the subsidies...That money spent here could be put to better use." ⁹⁷ Graham Saul of Climate Action Network Canada used the event to call for more money to help developing countries and urged world leaders to make climate change a priority: "We are calling for the world leaders to put climate change on the agenda for both summits," said Saul. "We want to see concrete plans to increase their commitment."

23 June 2010 was the "Environmental and Climate Justice" day of action, organized by both eNGOs and other civil society organizations. The Canadian Youth Climate Coalition was a main organizer, and posted a reflection of the event on their website. Hundreds of activists went through the streets of Toronto to visit organizations and businesses deemed responsible for

⁹² "Greenpeace activists abort Mt. Logan climb," CBC News, 24 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.cbc.ca/canada/north/story/2010/06/24/greenpeace-g20-mount-logan.html.

⁹³ Tom Godfrey, "Oily activists demand clean energy," Toronto Sun (Toronto), 17 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January, 2011, http://www.torontosun.com/news/g20/2010/06/17/14427156.html.

⁹⁴ "G8/G20 Global Day of Action," At the Table (Toronto). Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://archive.atthetable2010.org/dayofaction.

http://archive.atthetable2010.org/dayofaction.

95 "Global Day of Action," Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011.

http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2048.

^{96 &}quot;Global Day of Action," Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2048.

⁹⁷ Tom Godfrey, "Oily activists demand clean energy," Toronto Sun (Toronto), 17 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January, 2011. http://www.torontosun.com/news/g20/2010/06/17/14427156.html.

⁹⁸ Tom Godfrey, "Oily activists demand clean energy," Toronto Sun (Toronto), 17 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 January, 2011. http://www.torontosun.com/news/g20/2010/06/17/14427156.html.

⁹⁹ Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climate-justiceg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

¹⁰⁰ Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climate-justiceg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

environmental destruction. ¹⁰¹ It focused largely on the environmental consequences of Canadian mining practices. ¹⁰² Photos of the tour were posted on the Canadian Youth Climate Coalition's website and a link was provided to a video of the tour on YouTube. 103 The event was covered on websites such as CBC, the Council of Canadians and the Toronto Media Co-Op. 104

Public Awareness Events/Workshops

Most public awareness events were collaborations between several eNGOs. WWF Canada. Équiterre, and La Fédération des coopératives du Nouveau-Québec Quebec installed a life size statue of a polar bear made of ice in Toronto to raise awareness about the urgency of action on climate change. 105 The statue was meant to be interactive and the public was encouraged to touch the bear, in order to symbolize the ability of all to affect climate change. 106 "This is a visceral way to bring the interactions between humans and climate together" commented Zoë Caron of WWF. 107

Climate Action Network Canada coordinated a number of public awareness events. A number of events took place prior to the summit. The event "From Copenhagen, to Cochabamba, Toronto and Cancun: Building the movement for climate justice in Canada" was a workshop covering the international movement for climate justice and how individuals can get involved. 108 A similar workshop called "What is climate justice?" also took place. Another workshop called "Keep the lights on in the climate century" focused on how to find more clean energy solutions. Some workshops focused on more local environmental issues, such as "Tar Sands Expansion Through Local Struggles" or "Tar Sands 101," which was an educational opportunity to learn more about the issues of the tar sands. ¹⁰⁹ On 26 June 2010, they helped coordinate a march designed to raise awareness about climate action, starting off from the Greenpeace office in Toronto. 110

Collaborative Efforts

Many coalitions incorporated a large number of eNGOs, as they collaborated with each other and other NGOs. The "At The Table" Campaign was a major civil society initiative that encompassed

http://www.climateactionnetwork.ca/e/issues/g8/index.php?WEBYEP DI=2#gda.

¹⁰⁹ "The G8/G20," Climate Action Network Canada. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011.

http://www.climateactionnetwork.ca/e/issues/g8/index.php?WEBYEP_DI=2#gda.

The G8/G20," Climate Action Network Canada. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011. http://www.climateactionnetwork.ca/e/issues/g8/index.php?WEBYEP DI=2#gda.

¹⁰¹ Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climatejusticeg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

102 Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate

Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climate-

justiceg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

103 Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climatejusticeg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

¹⁰⁴ Kimia Ghomeshi, "Toxic Toronto Rears Its Head to Greet the G8/G20," Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, 8 July 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011, http://www.ourclimate.ca/wordpress/tag/climatejusticeg20toxic-tour-indigenous-rights-tar-sands-action/.

105 "Ice bear sculpture in Toronto for G8/G20 Summits," WWF Canada, 25 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3

January 2011, http://wwf.ca/newsroom/?7540/Ice-Bear-sculpture-in-Toronto-for-G8G20-summits.

¹⁰⁶ "Ice bear sculpture in Toronto for G8/G20 Summits," WWF Canada, 25 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011. http://wwf.ca/newsroom/?7540/Ice-Bear-sculpture-in-Toronto-for-G8G20-summits.

¹⁰⁷ "Ice bear sculpture in Toronto for G8/G20 Summits," WWF Canada, 25 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011. http://wwf.ca/newsroom/?7540/Ice-Bear-sculpture-in-Toronto-for-G8G20-summits.

¹⁰⁸ "The G8/G20." Climate Action Network Canada, Date of Access: 6 January, 2011.

many eNGOs, including WWF, Oxfam Canada, the Sierra Club of Canada, the Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, Amnesty International and Climate Action Network Canada. ¹¹¹ The "At The Table" Campaign aimed to improve public awareness through pages on the website such as "G8/G20 101."

Climate change was one of their three priority issues. Like many of their member eNGOs, they called for a reduction in emissions and funding for developing nations. They also ran a number of public engagement activities, such as a Global Day of Action, a petition, protest campaign using pictures of G8 leaders and community dinners to educate individuals about the G8 issues and call for action. It

Multiple NGOs also collaborated through TckTckTck, a global alliance of eNGOs and other groups working together to stimulate action on climate change. ¹¹⁵ There are eNGOs represented all across the world, such as The Health and Environment Alliance of Belgium, Greenpeace International, Équiterre of Canada, WWF International, the US Climate Action Network, World Mayors Council on Climate Change, Conservation International, the Canadian Parks and Wilderness Society, and CARE Climate Change. ¹¹⁶ They too put forward a list of specific demands for G8 and G20 leaders. Three of them focused on helping the world's poor deal with climate change: deliver a minimum of USD30 billion that is urgently needed to help poorer countries adapt to climate change, design a new climate fund that will meet the needs of the poorest and most vulnerable people and help low income nations develop infrastructure strong enough to withstand floods, establish new farming methods for drier conditions, and expand adequate healthcare systems as diseases like malaria spread into new areas. ¹¹⁷

The other two demands were to place a price on pollution and to increase public investment in renewable energy and energy efficiency. ¹¹⁸ Along with the At the Table Campaign, TckTckTck helped to organize a petition of over two million signatures to world leaders at the summit. ¹¹⁹ During the summit, they provided regular updates from their media station, the "Fresh Air Center." ¹²⁰

G8-Civil Society Initiatives

Little was done in the way of direct engagement between eNGOs and the G8 at the Muskoka Summit. Most of the engagement took place before the summit, and this was in a more restricted capacity than at previous summits, such as the 2009 Summit in L'Aquila.

```
<sup>111</sup> "Our Partners," At the Table (Toronto). Date of Access: 6 January 2011.
```

 $\underline{http://archive.atthetable 2010.org/groups/partners}.$

http://archive.atthetable2010.org/g8g20-101.

http://archive.atthetable2010.org/individuals/issues/climate.

http://tcktcktck.org/events/major-moments/g8g20.

http://tcktcktck.org/events/major-moments/g8g20.

http://tcktcktck.org/stories/climate-news/weekly-news-roundup-june-28-july-2-2010.

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

[&]quot;G8/G20 101," At the Table (Toronto). Date of Access: 6 January 2011.

^{113 &}quot;Real Progress on Climate Change," At the Table (Toronto). Date of Access: 6 January 2011.

^{114 &}quot;Act Now," At the Table (Toronto). Date of Access: 6 January, 2011. http://archive.atthetable2010.org/individuals/actnow.

[&]quot;About," tcktcktck. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011. http://tcktcktck.org/about.

¹¹⁶ "Partners," tcktcktck. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011. http://tcktcktck.org/partners/our-partners.

^{117 &}quot;G8/G20 Summit in Toronto," tcktcktck, Date of Access: 6 January 2011.

^{118 &}quot;G8/G20 Summit in Toronto," tcktcktck. Date of Access: 6 January 2011.

[&]quot;Weekly News Round-up: June 28-July 2, 2010," tcktcktck. Date of Access: 6 January 2011.

^{120 &}quot;Fresh Air Center," tcktcktck. Date of Access: 5 January, 2011. http://tcktcktck.org/freshair.

Many eNGOs expressed frustration at the lack of a pre-summit G8 Environment Ministers meeting, an event that has occurred regularly at past summits — generally an opportunity for eNGOs to engage in dialogue with G8 ministers. Prior to the 2009 L'Aquila Summit, eNGOs such as WWF International and the International Union for the Conservation of the Environment were involved in the environment ministers meeting held in Siracusa, Italy. The Siracusa Charter, a product of this meeting that was widely endorsed by the eNGOs consulted, subsequently influenced developments at the actual G8 Summit. However, no such meeting was held prior to the Muskoka Summit.

There was a meeting of G8 Finance Ministers, Foreign Ministers, and Development Ministers, but Environment Ministers were left out. Dale Marshall of the David Suzuki Foundation was surprised at this decision: "[This decision] continues to build evidence...that Canada is not a leader when it comes to addressing the impact of climate change," he commented. John Bennett, the director of the Sierra Club of Canada, felt that the failure to hold an Environment Ministers meeting was symptomatic of the priority given to environmental issues in general: "When you are at the bottom of the pile, its really hard to get any lower" he remarked.

Robert Fox, the Executive Director of Oxfam Canada, was highly critical of the Canadian government for not hosting such a meeting. [Canada] could have demonstrated leadership...that they have a plan moving forward and that they are encouraging other governments to do so as well" he said. By not having the environment ministers meet, they reinforced the impression among critics that they are not committed to serious action." Although there was not an environment ministers meeting, some environmental groups did protest prior to the G8 Development Ministers' meeting in Halifax. 127

Further frustrations about the lack of civil society incorporation occurred over the lack of media access provided to civil society groups during the summit. NGOs (including eNGOs) were kept out of the international media center and were instead given a space described as "isolated" and with "little access to media." Furthermore, civil society groups were unable to book spaces for

¹²¹ Anca Gurzu, "Lack of G8 environment ministers meeting 'abnormal' say critics," Embassy Magazine, 5 May, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.embassymag.ca/page/view/g8-05-05-2010.

¹²² Chair's Summary Siracusa Environment Ministerial Meeting, G8 Environment Ministry, 24 April 2009. Date of Access: 10 January, 2011.

http://www.g8ambiente.it/public/images/20090424/doceng/09_04_24_Chair%20Summary.pdf.

¹²³ Chair's Summary Siracusa Environment Ministerial Meeting, G8 Environment Ministry, 24 April 2009. Date of Access: 8 January, 2011.

http://www.g8ambiente.it/public/images/20090424/doceng/09_04_24_Chair%20Summary.pdf.

Anca Gurzu, "Lack of G8 environment ministers meeting 'abnormal' say critics," Embassy Magazine, 5 May, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.embassymag.ca/page/view/g8-05-05-2010.

Anca Gurzu, "Lack of G8 environment ministers meeting 'abnormal' say critics," Embassy Magazine, 5 May, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.embassymag.ca/page/view/g8-05-05-2010.

Anca Gurzu, "Lack of G8 environment ministers meeting 'abnormal' say critics," Embassy Magazine, 5 May, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://www.embassymag.ca/page/view/g8-05-05-2010.

The Canadian Press, "Protesters March Through Halifax in advance of G8 ministers meeting," 25 April, 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://news.ca.msn.com/canada/cp-article.aspx?cp-documentid=24022601.

¹²⁸ "No access to media for NGOs at Canada G8 and G20 Summits," InterAction, 23 June, 2010. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.interaction.org/article/no-access-media-ngos-canada-g8-and-g20-summits.

official press conferences. 129 This lack of media access is in contrast to civil society incorporation at past G8 summits. In L'Aquila, the Italian government provided civil society groups with space in the International Media Center. 130

The "People's Summit," held from June 18-20, served as the alternative summit for civil society groups. There were a number of eNGOs involved in this event. Greenpeace facilitated a panel discussion entitled, "Politics of the G8 and the G20: Toronto, Ottawa and the Planet." Speakers included Canadian Member of Parliament Olivia Chow and Toronto City Councilor Adam Vaughn. Topics included the oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico and the tar sands in Canada, as well as the need for greater action on environmental issues at the upcoming summit.

Summit Outcomes

Continuing in the trend of recent summits, eNGOs were largely disappointed with the outcomes of the G8 Summit in Muskoka. At best, eNGO representatives cited the lack of retrenchment on existing commitments as a positive outcome. Kim Carstensen of the WWF Global Climate Initiative expressed that final outcome of the summit, the G8 Communiqué, lacked vision and was a complete regurgitation of commitments from earlier summits and last year's climate conference in Copenhagen. The good news is that climate change is still on the agenda, and we're not back-tracking from where we got to last year, remarked Carstensen. The bad news is that there is no new commitment to actually do what is needed.

In a blog entry on the WWF Website on 28 June 2010, Zoë Caron wrote that the G8 Summit was "by no means revolutionary" on the issues of climate change, environment, biodiversity, or energy transformation. However, she commented that as a result of the summit, Canadians have been made more aware of the discrepancy between the urgency of environmental issues and the lagging response of political leaders. ¹³⁷

Like WWF, most eNGOs did not have many positive things to say about the outcomes of the 2010 G8 Summit. Clare Demerse of The Pembina Institute echoed the words of Kim Cartensen,

¹²⁹ Pratima Arakapota, "Across the Road but a World Away: Media and Civil Society at the G8," G8 Research Group, 24 June, 2010. Date of Access: 10 January, 2011. http://g8live.org/across-the-road-but-a-world-away-media-and-civil-society-at-the-g8/.

Toronto, 10 November 2009. Date of Access: 10 January 2011. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/evaluations/2009laquila/2009-hajnal.html

¹³¹ Pratima Arakapota, "People's Summit, June 18-20," G8 Research Group, 21 June, 2011. Date of Access: 8 January, 2011. http://g8live.org/peoples-summit-june-18-20/.

Pratima Arakapota, "People's Summit, June 18-20," G8 Research Group, 21 June, 2011. Date of Access: 8 January, 2011. http://g8live.org/peoples-summit-june-18-20/.

¹³³ Pratima Arakapota, "People's Summit, June 18-20," G8 Research Group, 21 June, 2011. Date of Access: 8 January, 2011. http://g8live.org/peoples-summit-june-18-20/.

¹³⁴ Pratima Arakapota, "People's Summit, June 18-20," G8 Research Group, 21 June, 2011. Date of Access: 8 January, 2011. http://g8live.org/peoples-summit-june-18-20/.

¹³⁵ "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group (Ottawa), 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html.

¹³⁶ "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group (Ottawa), 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html.

¹³⁷ Zoë Caron, "Canadians say: We told you so," WWF-Canada, 28 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January 2011. http://blog.wwf.ca/blog/2010/06/28/canadians-say-we-told-you-so/.

saying that the summit declaration was "vague" and produced no "new meaningful commitments" to tackle climate change. 138

Greenpeace had a number of specific criticisms: failure to commit to greenhouse gas admissions; inadequate steps on phasing out fossil fuel subsidies, the failure to lay down plans for a "green energy future" and inordinate focus on carbon capture and storage, nuclear power and biofuels at the expense of more important issues. Greenpeace spokesperson Kumi Naidoo commented on the failure of the summit to meet Greenpeace's checklist items: "Greenpeace put forth four simple demands that the G8 leaders could have followed to stop catastrophic climate change....I see no leadership here, the G8 has failed again."

The David Suzuki Foundation found similar faults with the summit's progress on environmental issues. Foundation representative Dale Marshall said that the reiteration of last year's commitment to keep global warming below two degrees would be "meaningless without action" and that further steps were need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the G8 countries. Without such actions, Marshall contends that "warming will be twice the dangerous threshold" and will devastate "many of the world's people and species." ¹⁴¹

Équiterre, a Canadian eNGO, was very critical of Canada's government. "The lack of progress since last year's G8 is a clear indication that after having stalled climate action in Canada over the last four years, the Harper government has successfully stalled it at the G8 level as well," commented Steven Guilbeault of Équiterre. 142

Civil society coalitions that included eNGOs also commented on the summit's outcomes. The At the Table Campaign also put out a press release related to the summit's outcomes. Their main criticism on climate was that little was being done to provide funds to help the world's poorest tackle climate change. ¹⁴³ On the TckTckTck website, another collaboration civil society group, an article by representative Beka Economopoulous criticized the G8 for neglecting the issue of climate change. ¹⁴⁴ "While four paragraphs in the communiqué were devoted specifically to climate change…no new initiatives or specific actions were announced that might indicate a

http://www.sherpatimes.com/g8/179-g8-summit-ngo-responses.html.

¹³⁸ "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group (Ottawa), 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html. ¹³⁹ "G8 Summit – NGO Responses," The Sherpa Times, 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January, 2011.

¹⁴⁰ "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group (Ottawa), 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html.

¹⁴¹ "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group (Ottawa), 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html.

¹⁴² "Climate Action Network Media Reaction: Leading Environmental Groups respond to the climate change and energy aspects of Muskoka G8 communiqué," CNW Group, 26 June, 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011, http://www.newswire.ca/en/releases/archive/June2010/26/c8519.html.

¹⁴³ "G8 leaders offer little and fail to hold themselves accountable," At the Table (Toronto), 26 June, 2011. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011. http://archive.atthetable2010.org/story/g8-leaders-offer-little-and-fail-to-hold-themselves-accountable-0.

¹⁴⁴ Beka Econompolous, tcktcktck, 27 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011, http://tcktcktck.org/stories/fresh-air-center-bonn/g8-summit-focused-security-concerns-neglected-chief-threat-climate.

sense of urgency amongst the G8 leadership" she wrote. 145 She also criticized the G8 for lack of accountability, raising the issue of how the \$30 billion promised for developing countries will be acquired and distributed. 146

To rectify their missteps at the G8 Summit, Economopoulous recommended that G8 leaders follow the recommendations outlined by Greenpeace USA in the document "Energy Revolution 2010," released just prior to the summit. 148

Public Policy Research Institutions (Think Tanks)

Mahdi Hussein

Public policy research institutions or think tanks have dramatically increased since the 1980s and 90s. These institutions have not only experienced growth in number, but have also experienced growth in the scope and impact of their research. These global partnerships and networks are an instrumental mechanism for crafting and transferring information internationally, which policy makers and global leaders can use to fine-tune policies at both the national and international levels. Is 151

The prominent issues at the 36th annual summit in Muskoka, Ontario, Canada, were development, the global economy, the global climate, security and democracy. ¹⁵² An additional theme examined by several think tanks is the relationship between the G8 and G20, contending that the G20 may be a more suitable environment to discuss certain substantial global issues. ¹⁵³

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

¹⁴⁵ Beka Econompolous, tcktcktck, 27 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011, http://tcktcktck.org/stories/fresh-air-center-bonn/g8-summit-focused-security-concerns-neglected-chief-threat-climate

¹⁴⁶ Beka Econompolous, tcktcktck, 27 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011, http://tcktcktck.org/stories/fresh-air-center-bonn/g8-summit-focused-security-concerns-neglected-chief-threat-climate.

¹⁴⁷ Beka Econompolous, tcktcktck, 27 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011, http://tcktcktck.org/stories/fresh-air-center-bonn/g8-summit-focused-security-concerns-neglected-chief-threat-climate.

¹⁴⁸ Beka Econompolous, tcktcktck, 27 June, 2010. Date of Access: 6 January, 2011, http://tcktcktck.org/stories/fresh-air-center-bonn/g8-summit-focused-security-concerns-neglected-chief-threat-climate

threat-climate.

149 McGann, James G. "The Global 'Go-To Think Tanks' 2009." *Office at the United Nations, New York.*12 Nov. 2010. http://www.ony.unu.edu/2009 Global Go To Report (Think Tank Index) 1.31.10.pdf>.

McGann, James G. "The Global 'Go-To Think Tanks' 2009." Office at the United Nations, New York.
 Nov. 2010. http://www.ony.unu.edu/2009 Global Go To Report (Think Tank Index) 1.31.10.pdf
 McGann, James G. "The Global 'Go-To Think Tanks' 2009." Office at the United Nations, New York.

¹² Nov. 2010. http://www.ony.unu.edu/2009_Global_Go_To_Report_(Think_Tank_Index)_1.31.10.pdf>.

¹⁵² Kirton, John. "Prospects for the 2010 Muskoka G8 Summit." *G8 Information Centre*. 22 Nov. 2010. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/evaluations/2010muskoka/2010prospects090702.html>.

Tareen, Asfia. "Making Room for Developing Nations at the G8 Table | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June. 2010. 10 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/making-room-developing-nations-g8-table.

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements and Utilization of the Media

The Centre for International Governance Innovation (CIGI) was extremely active in issuing daily updates and summaries via YouTube clips, as well as publishing coverage and providing analysis of the G8 summit.

The Brookings Institute, Carnegie Endowment and the Center for European Studies published articles analyzing the G20 summit but did not publish much work assessing the G8 Summit in Muskoka.

The Center for International Governance published articles and videos criticizing Prime Minister Harpers' comments on Iran's nuclear proliferation and the accuracy of the Muskoka Accountability Report.¹⁵⁴

They also expressed concerns with the 7.3 Billion collected for the Muskoka Initiative, ¹⁵⁵ a critique of the Muskoka Accountability Report, ¹⁵⁶ alternative financing for G8 development commitments, ¹⁵⁷ the Doha Development Round ¹⁵⁸ and the reform of the United Nations Security Council. ¹⁵⁹

54 December Fernier With a Colored

¹⁵⁴ Regehr, Ernie. "The G8 and the Prime Minister on Iran: Getting the Charges Right | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-and-prime-minister-iran-getting-charges-right

Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for Internationale Governance Internationale Governance Internationale. CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/73b-committed-muskoka-initiative.

156 Barr, Gerry. "Third Party Review Needed of Muskoka Accountability Report | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 9 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/third-party-review-needed-muskoka-accountability-report.

accountability-report>.

157 Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development-commitments.

The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

¹⁵⁹ Shorr, David. "Can the G8 Drive UN Security Council Reform? | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale.* 26 June 2010. 22 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/can-drive-un-security-council-reform

CIGI published an article criticizing Prime Minister Harper for wrongly stating that Iran had "chosen to acquire [nuclear] weapons to threaten its neighbours." This is erroneous because the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), the United Nations Security Council, and the G8 in its Muskoka Communiqué had not made the claim that Iran had chosen to acquire nuclear weapons. ¹⁶¹

Another concern was the effectiveness of the USD5.5 billion invested by the G8 countries for maternal health. The specifics of how the money would be spent to contribute to a sustainable reduction in maternal and child mortality were not available during the summit. 163

CIGI advocated for the increase of innovative alternative financing for G8 Development Commitments. As mentioned in the Muskoka Accountability Report, aid commitments made by G8 leaders are frequently not paid in full. As the advocacy group ONE indicates, according to figures from the Development Assistance Committee of the OECD, the G8 has provided funding for about 60% of its aid promises. In the committee of the OECD, the G8 has provided funding for about 60% of its aid promises.

¹⁶⁰ Regehr, Ernie. "The G8 and the Prime Minister on Iran: Getting the Charges Right | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-and-prime-minister-iran-getting-charges-right

The G8 and the Prime Minister on Iran: Getting the Charges Right | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-and-prime-minister-iran-getting-charges-right

¹⁶² Leifso, Deanne. "\$7.3B Committed to Muskoka Initiative | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale.* 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010.

¹⁶³ Leifso, Deanne. "\$7.3B Committed to Muskoka Initiative | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010.

¹⁶⁴ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development-commitments

commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development-commitments

166 Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development-commitments

16

This produces a culture of skepticism of commitments created by world leaders. ¹⁶⁷ To increase the completion rate of aid promises, G8 countries such as Canada and the United States have utilized public-private partnerships. 168 This leverages government investments with cooperate funds to construct roads, power plants and bridges. 165

Credible partners are instrumental for these programs and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation have been vital in this regard. The Gates Foundation has a larger program budget than most states and the World Health Organization. The traditional donors — states, are in a decline, while new types of donors, NGOs, charities and transnational corporation are becoming necessary and substantial agents in development. 172

CIGI had also published a short-video clip critiquing the Muskoka Accountability Report. ¹⁷³ The main concern was that it was not submitted for third party/independent review. 174 This causes

¹⁶⁷ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010, 23 Dec. 2010,
\$\frac{168}{168}\$ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International

Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development- commitments>

¹⁶⁹ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/alternative-financing-g8-development- commitments>

¹⁷⁰ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010.

¹⁷¹ Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010.

¹⁷² Schrumm, Andrew. "Alternative Financing for G8 Development Commitments | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 25 June 2010. 23 Dec. 2010.
173 Barr, Gerry. "Third Party Review Needed of Muskoka Accountability Report | Centre for International

Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 9 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/third-party-review-needed-muskoka- accountability-report>.

¹⁷⁴ Barr, Gerry. "Third Party Review Needed of Muskoka Accountability Report | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale, 26 June 2010. 9 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/third-party-review-needed-muskoka- accountability-report>.

skepticism about the complete accuracy of the report and also sets a dangerous precedent about the methodology of compiling future reports.¹⁷⁵

In the G8 Muskoka Declaration, language was added on bilateral and regional negotiations regarding the Doha Development Round. The G8 reaffirmed its commitment to free and open trade, which CIGI contends is only one part of the solution, as developing nations, especially in the G20 would want to see more done in terms of development. The Doha Development Round should be rethought, alongside the G20, and ultimately will be a different product than what was initially envisioned. The Doha Development Round should be rethought, alongside the G20, and ultimately will be a different product than what was initially envisioned.

If by the end of the year, the progress is not significant on the Doha Development Round, the G8 reaffirmed their bilateral and regional alternatives for open trade. Prime Minister Harper provided the example of the strong economic integration of Canada and the European Union.

CIGI expressed concerns on the division of the agenda between the G8 and G20.¹⁸¹ The G8 focused its efforts on peace and security and the G20 focused on economic security. ¹⁸² This is

¹⁷⁵ Barr, Gerry. "Third Party Review Needed of Muskoka Accountability Report | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale.* 26 June 2010. 9 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/third-party-review-needed-muskoka-accountability-report.

The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

¹⁷⁷ Schwanen, Daniel. "The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

¹⁷⁸ Schwanen, Daniel. "The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

¹⁷⁹ Schwanen, Daniel. "The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

¹⁸⁰ Schwanen, Daniel. "The G8 Muskoka Declaration and the Doha Development Round | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | *Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale*. 26 June 2010. 15 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/g8-muskoka-declaration-and-doha-development-round.

Tareen, Asfia. "Making Room for Developing Nations at the G8 Table | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." *CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation* | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 10 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/making-room-developing-nations-g8-table

problematic as the G20 provides a venue for multilateral diplomacy that better represents the shift of power in the global system. ¹⁸⁴ With this, accompanies the need for United Nations Security Council reform to better reflect this change. ¹⁸⁵

Summit Outcomes

Upon the Summit's conclusion, the Brookings Institute and CIGI published articles, op-eds, and videos assessing the outcomes of the G8 Summit.

The Brookings Institute published an article critiquing the G8 Summit and questioned its necessity in contemporary politics. 186 It also highlighted two "silver linings" from the G8 Summit. 187 The first was a forum for the United States and the European Union to discuss their disagreements without the countries from the G20 being present. 188 The second was the Muskoka Accountability Report. With a growing number of rising countries and an increase of global integration, creating a precedent for states to hold themselves accountable is a fundamental necessity. 189

¹⁸² Tareen, Asfia. "Making Room for Developing Nations at the G8 Table | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 10 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/making-room-developing-nations-g8-

 $[\]frac{table}{^{183}}\,Shorr,\,David.\,"Can \ the \ G8 \ Drive \ UN \ Security \ Council \ Reform? \ | \ Centre \ for \ International \ Governance$ Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 22 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/can-drive-un-security-council-reform 184 Shorr, David. "Can the G8 Drive UN Security Council Reform? | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 22 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/can-drive-un-security-council-reform ¹⁸⁵ Shorr, David. "Can the G8 Drive UN Security Council Reform? | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 26 June 2010. 22 Dec. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/blogs/2010/6/can-drive-un-security-council-reform ¹⁸⁶ Jones, Bruce. "Two Silver Linings at the 2010 G8 and G-20 Summits - Brookings Institution." *Brookings* - Quality. Independence. Impact. 28 June 2010. 15 Nov. 2010.

http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2010/0628 g20 summit jones.aspx>.

¹⁸⁷ Jones, Bruce. "Two Silver Linings at the 2010 G8 and G-20 Summits - Brookings Institution." *Brookings* - Quality. Independence. Impact. 28 June 2010. 15 Nov. 2010.

http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2010/0628 g20 summit jones.aspx>.

Jones, Bruce. "Two Silver Linings at the 2010 G8 and G-20 Summits - Brookings Institution." *Brookings* - Quality. Independence. Impact. 28 June 2010. 15 Nov. 2010.

http://www.brookings.edu/opinions/2010/0628 g20 summit jones.aspx>.

¹⁸⁹ McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. .

CIGI published an article from The Korean Times arguing that the G8 Summit was a failure in terms of maternal health. 190 The commitments on maternal health are similar to the same commitments made in 1990 in the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs). 191 Goal 4 was to reduce child mortality by two thirds, between 1990 and 2015. 192 Goal 5 was to reduce by threequarters, between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality ratio and to achieve by 2015, universal access to reproductive health. 193 These goals are far from completion and when Prime Minister Stephan Harper reaffirmed similar commitments at the Muskoka Summit, it only reaffirmed failure. 194

CIGI had also published an article criticizing the effectiveness and necessity of new sanctions on Iran. 195 At the end of June. Foreign Affairs Minister Lawrence Cannon held a highly publicized press conference indicating to Canadian journalists that Canada would impose new sanctions on Iran, in addition to the ones imposed by the G8 and UN Security Council. 196 Both CIGI and the Globe and Mail concluded that this message was politically driven and intended to appear the Pro-Israeli political constituencies of the Canadian population. 197

¹⁹⁰ McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. .

191 McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. .

192 McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. <a href="http://www.cigionline.org/articles/2010/07/reaching-success-or-reaffirming-succe

failure>.

193 McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. <a href="http://www.cigionline.org/articles/2010/07/reaching-success-or-reaffirming-succe

194 McMillan, Leah, and Hany Besada. "Reaching Success or Reaffirming Failure | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 18 July 2010. 17 Dec. 2010. .

195 Gurzu, Anca. "Justified but Cost-free Iran Sanctions | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 4 Aug. 2010. 15 Nov. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/articles/2010/08/justified-cost-free-iran-sanctions>.

¹⁹⁶ Gurzu, Anca. "Justified but Cost-free Iran Sanctions | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 4 Aug. 2010. 15 Nov. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/articles/2010/08/justified-cost-free-iran-sanctions>.

¹⁹⁷ Gurzu, Anca. "Justified but Cost-free Iran Sanctions | Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale." CIGI - Centre for International Governance Innovation | Centre Pour L'innovation Dans La Gouvernance Internationale. 4 Aug. 2010. 15 Nov. 2010. http://www.cigionline.org/articles/2010/08/justified-cost-free-iran-sanctions

Human Rights Organizations

Sima Atri

Civil Society groups, largely composed of non-governmental organizations, have emerged globally as important promoters of human rights. Organizations like Amnesty International, Global Witness, and Human Rights Watch seek to promote human rights through advocacy work, the mobilization of public opinion, the investigation of abuses, and the provision of assistance to victims. A number of human rights-focused civil society organizations and took an active role at the G8 Summit. They organized protests, engaged communities, and drafted press releases. However, human rights groups were generally disappointed with the summit, both in the commitments as outlined in the final communiqué, the lack of accountability, and the lack of civil society inclusion at the summit.

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements and Utilization of the Media

Human rights organizations were especially active in releasing policy papers and statements before, during, and after the summit. A number of organizations were especially active: Amnesty International, Human Rights Watch and the Global Call to Action Against Poverty.

Amnesty International put out a number of important press releases in the lead-up to the G8 summit. Its first, titled "G8: time for bold actions, not just promises" released on 24 June 2010, welcomed G8 states' commitments to transparency and accountability, but expressed worry that the Millennium Development Goals would not be met. This release also stressed the need for a central role for a human rights approach to the Millennium Development Goals efforts. ¹⁹⁹ In the midst of the summit on 27 June 2010, Amnesty released a statement noting that peaceful protests suffered amidst heavy security measures at the G8. ²⁰⁰ On 30 June 2010, Amnesty called on the Prime Minister and Premier of Ontario, through an open letter, to engage in a summit security review. Amnesty International released the statement on behalf of the organization's 80,000 Canadian members. ²⁰¹

Human Rights Watch also released a number of public statements around issues pertaining to the G8 summit. On 23 April 2010, Human Rights Watch released an open letter to Honorable

http://muse.jhu.edu/login?uri=/journals/human rights quarterly/v022/22.1welch.html

0News.

¹⁹⁸ Claude Emerson Welch, NGOs and the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Human Rights Ouarterly Vol 22, Number 1, February 2000, Date of Access: 10 November 2010.

Amnesty International, G8 Public Statement: Time for bold actions, not just promises, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 21 December 2010.

http://www.amnesty.ca/resource_centre/view.php?load=arcview&article=5450&c=Resource%20Centre%20News

Amnesty International, Toronto and the G8/G20: Peaceful protest suffers amidst heavy security measures and acts of vandalism, 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 28 December 2010. http://www.amnesty.ca/resource_centre/news/view.php?article=5453&c=Resource+Centre+News&load=arcview

²⁰¹ Amnesty International, Urgent Need for Summit Security Review: An Open Letter to the Prime Minister and the Premier of Ontario, 30 June 2010. Date of Access: 28 December 2010. http://www.amnesty.ca/resource_centre/view.php?load=arcview&article=5460&c=Resource%20Centre%2

Beverley Oda, Canada's Minister of International Cooperation, asking Canada to make maternal and child health a priority for the summit. The organization called this "critical for achieving progress on the Millennium Development Goals and for protecting fundamental human rights.",²⁰² A separate letter noted the additional importance of functioning accountability systems for health care issues. 203 Finally, Human Rights Watch also called for leaders to address the human rights crisis in Burma. The letter addressed to G8 foreign ministers called for the summit to take up accountability for war crimes and targeted sanctions, while calling for free and fair elections. 204

The Global Call to Action Against Poverty (GCAP), a leading human rights organization, was also an important source of news and analysis. GCAP is the world's largest civil society movement and calls for an end to poverty and inequality. GCAP was one of the only sources to comment on President Obama's surprise announcement at the G8. The American President outlined his vision for a new US policy on global development, "strengthening efforts to reduce global poverty, promote economic growth, and enhance the impact and results-based approach of American foreign aid."205 GCAP also started a successful Facebook campaign calling for the G8 to "show us the money." As will be further discussed, GCAP released a press statement on 27 June 2010 denouncing the "media apartheid" at the G8 and G20 summits. This press release was also signed by other civil society organizations and coalitions including Make Poverty History, Canadian Federation of Students, Greenpeace, OXFAM, and WWF. 207 Many other organizations released statements on this issue.

Many other organizations were vocal at the conclusion of the summits, noting its successes and failures in relation to the global human rights movement. ²⁰⁸ Save the Children, an organization that strives to help every child "attain the right to survival, protection, development, and participation."²⁰⁹ welcomed the child and maternal health initiative. They did however note that the "absence of the Gleneagles commitments from the final communiqué was a major

http://www.savethechildren.org/site/c.8rKLIXMGIpI4E/b.6146405/k.C7E9/About Us.htm

²⁰² Human Rights Watch, Letter to Canadian Development Minister: G8 Action on Maternal and Child Health, 23 April 2010. Date of Access: 29 December 2010. http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2010/04/23/lettercanadian-development-minister-g8-action-maternal-and-child-health

²⁰³ Human Rights Watch, Ministers Should Put Health System Accountability at Top of Agenda, 26 April 2010. Date of Access: 27 December 2010. http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2010/04/26/g8-act-improve-

maternal-and-child-health
204 Human Rights Watch, Burma: G8 Summit Should Tackle Burma Rights Crisis, 25 March 2010. Date of Access: 27 December 2010. http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2010/03/25/burma-g8-summit-should-tackleburma-rights-crisis

²⁰⁵ A New Approach to Advancing Development: Surprise Obama Announcement at the G8, Global Call to Action Against Poverty, 30 June 2010. Date of Access: 30 December 2010.

http://www.whiteband.org/en/readings/one-campaign/10-06-30/new-approach-advancing-development-

surprise-obama-announcement-g8

206 Show us the money: GCAP campaigners tell G8 & G20, Global Call to Action Against Poverty, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 29 December 2010. http://www.facebook.com/note.php?note_id=10150196159480246

²⁰⁷ Pratima Arapakota, GCAP releases press statement denouncing "media apartheid" at the G8/G20 Summit, G8 Live, 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-press-

statement-denouncing-media-apartheid-at-the-g8g20-summit/
208 Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011, http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngofollowing-g-8-summit
209 About Us, Save the Children. Date of Access: 7 January 2011.

omission."210 Women Deliver, a global advocacy organization that promotes health as both a human right and primary necessity for sustainable development²¹¹ had positive feedback, noting that the Canadian Prime Minister "should be proud of his efforts to lead and champion child and maternal health."212

Bono's ONE Campaign argued that although the G8's commitments were "an honest promise," they added that they were "also a weak promise." GCAP was largely disappointed, as the declarations made no reference to the 2005 Gleneagles commitments and promised relatively little compared to the amount spent on summit security. 214 Finally, Make Poverty History, the coalition of over 70 organizations "saw little in the final outcome document to justify the existence of the G8 and the costs it took to hold the meeting."²¹⁵

Summit Protests

The Toronto Community Mobilization Network was instrumental in coordinating and marketing protests in Toronto around G8 and G20 issues. The Network describes itself as an "education. outreach and infrastructure body that supports community-based mobilizations." The Network coordinated rallies, marches, street parties, and tent cities between 21-27 June 2010. Their messages largely revolved around an end to the violence caused on Indigenous and impoverished communities as well as women, by the G8.²¹⁷ Thousands of demonstrators took over Toronto's downtown core chanting human rights-related slogans. ²¹⁸

The Council of Canadians was also very active in organizing a number of protests across Canada. The Council of Canadians is Canada's largest citizen's organization and promotes progressive policies on issues of social and economic concern to Canadians. ²¹⁹ Arguing that the summits did not make sense politically, democratically, or financially, the Council of Canadians organized protests, editorials, and speeches. The Council also challenged threats to civil liberties by handing out earplugs to combat the police's acoustic devices. The Council additionally organized public

²¹⁰ Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011, http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngofollowing-g-8-summit
211 About, Women Deliver. Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://www.womendeliver.org/about/

²¹² Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngofollowing-g-8-summit

²¹³ Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011, http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngo-

following-g-8-summit
214 Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngo-

following-g-8-summit
215 Mixed Reactions of NGO Following the G8 Summit, Global Movement for Children. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://www.gmfc.org/en/newsroom/world-news-on-child-rights/658-mixed-reactions-of-ngofollowing-g-8-summit

²¹⁶ The Toronto Community Mobilization Network and G20/G8 Protests, Toronto Community Mobilization Network. Date of Access: 3 January 2011. http://g20.torontomobilize.org/node/153

²¹⁷ The Toronto Community Mobilization Network and G20/G8 Protests, Toronto Community Mobilization Network. Date of Access: 3 January 2011. http://g20.torontomobilize.org/node/153

²¹⁸ Arindam B. Shivaani, Toronto G8/G20 Summit Protest, Demotix, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 2

January 2011. http://www.demotix.com/news/367280/toronto-g820-summit-protest
²¹⁹ Public inquiry into police actions needed now, Council of Canadians. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://www.canadians.org/g20/

education workshops at the People's Summit. During the G8 Summit, members of the Council protested in a canoe near the summit with a "scrap the summit" message. 220

There were also a number of protests specifically targeting certain human rights issues. For example, a group organized a "March 4 Freedom" calling on individuals to mobilize against the invitation of President Meles Zenawi of Ethiopia to the G8.²²¹ Protesters object to the invitation of an alleged war criminal. A larger protest, partially coordinated by the Toronto Community Mobilization Network and indigenous groups, occurred 24 June 2010 to demonstrate against the G8 and G20 meetings.²²²

Collaborative Efforts

Human rights organizations played an important role in the People Summit preceding the G8. One of the five main themes of the People Summit focused on human rights, featuring panels and debates.²²³ Human rights organizations also informed the public through their press releases and policy documents.

Summit Outcomes

Canadian Prime Minister Steven Harper placed special emphasis on accountability at the 2010 Muskoka Summit. A Canadian authored Accountability Report attempted to trace states fulfillment of select past commitments.²²⁴ The Honourable Lawrence Cannon, Minister of Foreign Affairs, also noted that Canada's G8 website, would serve as an essential forum for citizen engagement.²²⁵

Nevertheless, civil society had mostly negative feedback for the Canadian-led G8 summit. The G8 Research Group noted that Canada was under a lot of pressure as chair of the G8 as many of the Gleneagles and other summit commitments were due in 2010. 226 However, Amnesty International Secretary General Alex Neve argued that "both summits failed to give the sustained commitment to human rights we'd like to see." The ONE Campaign provides solid analysis. It states that although "the G8 promised to 'ensure follow-up' on the conclusions and recommendations of the [Accountability] report, they shunned the first opportunity to actually implement them through the development of a robust, transparent and accountable Muskoka

²²⁰ Canadian Perspectives 2010, Council for Canadians, Autumn 2010. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://www.canadians.org/publications/CP/2010/autumn/G8-G20.pdf

²²¹ G8/G20 Toronto, March 4 Freedom. Date of Access: 4 January 2011.

http://www.march4freedom.org/take-action/g8g20-toronto/

²²² Indigenous Activists Protest G8/G20 Meetings in Toronto, DemocracyNow, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 30 December 2010.

http://www.democracynow.org/2010/6/25/indigenous_activists_protest_g8_g20_meetings 2010 People's Summit, Rabble.ca, 18 June 2010. Date of Access: 29 November 2010.

http://www.rabble.ca/whatsup/2010-peoples-summit-june-18-20-2010

Nicolas Simiand, G8 Muskoka Accountability Report - Executive Summary, Economics Summits, 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 28 December 2010. http://www.economicsummits.info/2010/06/g8-muskokaaccountability-report-executive-summary/
²²⁵ Canada Opens Web Gateway to the G8, Foreign Affairs and International Trade Canada, 29 January

^{2010.} Date of Access: 3 January 2010. http://www.international.gc.ca/media/aff/newscommuniques/2010/050.aspx?lang=eng

²²⁶ Jenilee Guebert, Plans for the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit, G8 Research Group, 13 January 2010. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. www.g7.utoronto.ca/.../2010plans/2010-g8plans-100113.pdf
Jennifer Henderson, NGOs give G8-G20 failing grades, Rabble.ca, 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 4

January 2011. http://rabble.ca/news/2010/06/ngos-give-g8-g20-failing-grades

Initiative." There was also little mention of civil society except as part of the programmatic and funding end in the G8 Communiqué. 229

However, negative comments did not only result from broken commitments. Many human rights organizations argued that the security measures at the summit impeded individuals rights to free expression. In a press release from Amnesty International, the organization noted that "security measures that were put in place in Toronto in the lead up to the summit...narrowed the space for civic expression," and many therefore felt apprehensive and fearful of participating in protests. 230 In addition, the separation of the mainstream media and the conference delegates from civil society groups was considered a serious blow to accountability and human rights. Condemned as "media apartheid" by Kumi Naidoo, co-chair of the GCAP, 231 and a number of other civil society actors. 232 Amnesty International's Alex Neve called the segregation "troubling." 233

The lack of pre-summit meetings enabling discussion with civil society further limited human rights organizations access to delegates. Many organizations noted that the summits suffered from the lack of expertise as civil society groups were denied access to background briefing. Dennis Howlett, Canadian coordinator of Make Poverty History stated, "it [was] an indication that the Canadian government [did] not recognize the important role civil society plays." The summits were therefore deemed a step backwards by the majority of civil society actors.

²²⁸ Nora Coghlan, On accountability, G8 fails to walk the walk, ONE blog, 16 July 2010. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://www.one.org/blog/category/2010-g8g20/

²²⁹ G8 Muskoka 2010, G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginners, Globe and Mail, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 19 December 2010. http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/world/g8-g20/news/g8final-communiqu/article1619527/

²³⁰ Amnesty International, Toronto and the G8/G20: Peaceful protest suffers amid security measures and acts of vandalism, 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 27 December 2010. http://www.amnesty.ca/resource_centre/news/view.php?article=5453&c=Resource+Centre+News&load=ar

view
231 Pratima Arapakota, GCAP releases press statement denouncing "media apartheid" at the G8/G20
24 January 2011 http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-press Summit, G8 Live, 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://g8live.org/gcap-releases-pressstatement-denouncing-media-apartheid-at-the-g8g20-summit/

²³² Saul Chernos, Harper shut-out: NGOs excluded from G8, G20, Now Toronto, 30 June 2010. Date of Access: 3 January 2011. http://www.nowtoronto.com/guides/g20/2010/story.cfm?content=175774 and Jennifer Henderson, NGOs give G8-G20 failing grades, Rabble.ca, 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://rabble.ca/news/2010/06/ngos-give-g8-g20-failing-grades

²³³ Jennifer Henderson, NGOs give G8-G20 failing grades, Rabble.ca, 28 June 2010. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://rabble.ca/news/2010/06/ngos-give-g8-g20-failing-grades

234 Saul Chernos, Harper shut-out: NGOs excluded from G8, G20, Now Toronto, 30 June 2010. Date of

Access: 3 January 2011. http://www.nowtoronto.com/guides/g20/2010/story.cfm?content=175774

Faith-Based Organizations

Sue Hammond and Carmen Celestini

Faith-based communities offer highly diverse religious and spiritual teachings, and have varied methods of outreach. The United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) defines faith-based organizations as:

- Informal social groups or local faith communities (e.g. women's groups, youth groups);
- Formal worshipping communities with an organized, hierarchal structure (e.g. Muslim, Buddhist, Christian), and sub-divisions of organized religion (e.g. Shi'ite Islam, Zen Buddhism, Protestant Christianity);
- Independent faith-influenced non-governmental organizations (e.g. Islamic Relief, World Religions Summit).²³⁵

A great number of faith-based organizations—as part of their guiding principles—advocate on behalf of communities that are directly or indirectly affected by the inequities of global society. Such organizations include the World Religions Summit, Tear Fund, KAIROS, Development and Peace, and World Vision.

The World Religions Summit is an interfaith initiative that actively seeks peaceful, positive action on issues such as poverty, climate change, nuclear disarmament and armed conflict. ²³⁶

Faith-based organizations were very active and responsive to the G8 summit in June 2010. These actions include organizing conferences and summits, such as the InterFaith Leaders Summit in Winnipeg, organized by the Canadian Council of Churches. It brought together 80 worldwide faith organization leaders, representing 20 countries and nine religious traditions.²³⁷ They also were active mobilizing protests, releasing statements and press releases calling for action from the G8 leaders, as well as in response to the G8 Leaders Summit Announcement. Faith-based organizations will utilize infant and child mortality rates, and maternal mortality rates, along with statistics from sources such as the Human Development Index (HDI), to gauge levels of success or failure of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) as set out by the G8/G20 countries.

http://www.faithsummit2010.org/documents/guidelines for FBOs/Partnership with FBOs UNAIDS Strategic Framework.pdf

²³⁵ "Partnership with Faith-based Organizations: UNAIDS Strategic Framework, UNAIDS/09.38E/JC1786E," English Original, December 2009. *UNAIDS: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS*, accessed December 9, 2010,

²³⁶ Marites N. Sison, "Faith leaders gather to push G8, G20 nations for change," *Anglicans United*, June 22, 2010, accessed January 10, 2011, http://anglicanjournal.com/nc/news-items/article/2010-world-religions-summit-9249.html

summit-9249.html
²³⁷ 2010 InterFairth Statement. Date of Access June 23, 2010.
http://www.faithchallengeg8.com/statements_responses_en.html

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements, and Utilization of the Media

On 23 June 2010, the eve of the G8 Summit, eighty senior leaders of the world's religions and faith-based groups representing over 20 countries²³⁸ and 47 different denominations²³⁹ gathered for the 2010 World Religions Summit (WRS) to urge G8/G20 world leaders to honor the Millennium Development Goals. ²⁴⁰ Those of the Aboriginal, Baha'i, Christian, Muslim, Jewish, Sikh, Shinto and Hindu religious traditions convened at the University of Winnipeg in Manitoba, Canada. Faith leaders issued a statement—"A Time for Inspired Leadership"—to the G8 leaders, urging them to "consider first the dehumanizing scourge of poverty and injustice," and to encourage "care for our common environment, the Earth." Key issues addressed at the WRS included: poverty, caring for the Earth, and investing in peace. ²⁴²

Christian Aid is an organization that lobbies for climate change issues, HIV/AIDS and malaria aid, and human rights. It is a Christian organization comprised of churches in Britain and Ireland. In September 2010, they released a Policy Report analyzing the progress of the G8 and G20 leaders on the MDG's specifically on the goals for ending poverty.²⁴³

A key issue at the WRS was to address poverty, most especially with respect to women and children, indigenous peoples, and those with disabilities. Participants cited the growing gap between the rich and the poor as a key factor leading to food deprivation and mortality rates amongst the poorest. Some expectations of wealthy countries by global faith leaders are to: do all possible to reach MDGs; invest 0.7% of gross national income in development assistance; cancel debts of Highly Indebted Poor Countries (HIPCs) without the implementation of regressive conditions; halt capital flight from poor to rich countries; make poverty reduction a priority; educate female children; and combat corruption.²⁴⁴

Another critical issue considered by the faith leaders was "careful stewardship of the Earth." Concern over long-lasting and harmful damage to the environment resulted in an expectation that world leaders should take decisive action now. Seeing the interdependency of the Earth's systems

http://www.christianaid.org.uk/resources/policy/poverty-over.aspx

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

²³⁸ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, June 23, 2010, 1. Accessed January 4, 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

²³⁹ Brenda Suderman, "A meeting of religious minds," *Winnipeg Free Press* (Winnipeg, MB). June 19, 2010, Accessed December 30, 2010,. http://global.factiva.com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/ha/default.aspx Brenda Suderman. "Religious leaders urged to move beyond politics," *Winnipeg Free Press* (Winnipeg, MB) June 23, 2010, accessed December 30, 2010,

http://global.factiva.com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/ha/default.aspx

²⁴¹ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, June 23, 2010, 1. Accessed January 4, 2010.

http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

242 "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, June 23, 2010, 1. Accessed January 4, 2010.

http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

²⁴³ Christian Aid: Poverty Over. Access Date September 2010.

²⁴⁴ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 1-3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

²⁴⁵ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 2. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

as a "unified whole," ²⁴⁶ faith leaders rested most responsibility for climate change in the laps of industrialized nations: "The strategy of promoting endless development and high consumption lifestyles must be challenged." ²⁴⁷

Faith leaders at the WRS expect that world leaders will ensure that wealthier countries implement concrete plans to ensure that global average temperatures do not increase more than two degrees Celsius from the pre-industrial levels; and in developing countries, that rich and poor nations work together to protect valued lands and keep industrial pollution at a minimum.²⁴⁸

Save the Children released a Call for Action for the G8 and G20 Leaders to fulfill their promises for the Maternal and Child Health MDGs. They urged the leaders to fulfill their pledges on nutrition and hunger, commitment to a global action plan for maternal, newborn and child survival, to deliver on their promises to Africa. In conjunction with this Call for Action, they also released a Policy Brief on The EU and child Survival, and a second on what the government of the UK must do in 2010 to meet MDGs.

The final key issue addressed at the WRS was that of investing in peace. With a belief in the collective interdependence of humanity, faith leaders noted a highly disproportionate amount of violent conflict in the world's poorest countries, and clarified that it is the responsibility of all to ensure that this violence is minimized. It was noted that NATO countries account for over 2/3 of global military spending—USD1.464 billion—"more than 20 times the annual world financial contributions to Official Development Assistance." Faith leaders also cited nuclear proliferation and the production of other weapons of mass destruction as grave dangers to humanity. Those attending the WRS presented the following expectations of world leaders: put an end to the arms race with a goal toward global disarmament; control production of small arms; invest in creation of a culture of peace; promote peace-building with the inclusion of religious communities; and, to stop ethnic cleansing and the suppression of minorities.

Pre-Summit Protests/Public Awareness Events/Workshops

The 2010 World Religions Summit marks the first to host approximately one hundred youth. The spiritually eclectic youth from across Canada attended GEN-Y to G-8: A Multifaith Dinner to

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

²⁴⁶ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

247 "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

²⁴⁸ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

249 Save the Children's Calls to the G8 and G20 in 2010. Date of access June 2010.

http://www.savethschildren.org.uk/cn/54_11716 htm.

http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/en/54_11716.htm

250 Save the Children: Policy Brief: The EU and Child Survival – An Action Plan for 2010. Date of Access April 2010. http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/en/54_11062.htm

Save the Children: Policy Brief: Child Survival – what the UK Government Must Do in 2010. Date of Access march 2010. http://www.savethechildren.org.uk/en/54 10751.htm

²⁵² "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

²⁵³ "A Time for Inspired Leadership and Action," Statement from World Religions Summit 2010: Interfaith Leaders in the G8 Nations, final draft, 23 June 2010, 3. Accessed 4 January 2010, http://www.faithchallengeg8.com

Inspire Change, and engaged in a panel discussion. To promote social activism, each young person was challenged to make or inspire positive change in some way. Most took up the challenge.²⁵⁴ More importantly, youth inclusion at the WRS prepares young people to take part in critical decision-making processes with respect to global issues and to effectively address G8 leaders in the future.

KAIROS: Canadian Ecumenical Justice Initiatives is a faith-based ecumenical organization that effects social change through advocacy, education and research programs in the fields of: ecological justice; economic justice, energy and extraction, human rights, just and sustainable livelihoods, and indigenous peoples.²

KAIROS participated in the 2010 World Religions Summit (Manitoba), the G8/G20 Peoples' Summit (Toronto), and organized the Climate Justice Tour of Canada (Canada-wide), an initiative to bring forward the voices of those most affected by climate change. During the Climate of Justice Tour, KAIROS speakers Naty Atz Sunc (Guatemala) and Isaiah Kipyegon Toroitich (Kenya), François Pihaatae (Tahiti) and Fred Sangris (Yellowknife) addressed the impact of climate change in their communities and engaged in dialogue with Canadians about how to achieve solutions ²⁵⁶

Development and Peace (Caritas Canada) is the official international development organization of the Catholic Church in Canada and a member of Caritas Internationalis. Development and Peace works with their partners—International Cooperation for Development and Solidarity (CIDSE), the Canadian Council for International Cooperation (CCIC), and KAIROS—to support partners in the Global South who "promote alternatives to unfair social, political, and economic structures." 257 Development and Peace spends much time communicating with Canadian Ministers of Parliament to improve the situation of the Global South. In addition, Development and Peace has hosted numerous public events to raise Canadians' awareness and to inspire Ministers to take action.²⁵⁸

Collaborative Efforts

Development and Peace works with their partners—International Cooperation for Development and Solidarity (CIDSE), the Canadian Council for International Cooperation (CCIC), and KAIROS—to support partners in the Global South who "promote alternatives to unfair social, political, and economic structures."259

KAIROS assisted in planning of the 2010 World Religions Summit, organized the Climate of Justice Tour in collaboration with the Canadian Youth Climate Coalition, and participated in the 2010 Peoples' Summit. This faith-based organization was an active part of the Canadian campaign which called for the implementation of a Financial Transaction Tax ("Robin Hood

http://devp.org/devpme/eng/aboutus/identity-eng.html

http://devp.org/devpme/eng/aboutus/identity-eng.html

²⁵⁴ Hilary Keachie, "Canadian Youth Put their Faith in Action!" *Tony Blair Faith Foundation*, accessed 10 January 2011. http://www.tonyblairfaithfoundation.org/blog/entry/canadian-youth-put-their-faith-in-action/
255 "Who We Are," KAIROS, accessed 11 January 2011, http://www.kairoscanada.org/en/who-we-are/

²⁵⁶ Sara Stratton, Education and Campaigns Coordinator, KAIROS, email message to author, January 11, 2011

²⁵⁷ "About Us," *Development and Peace*, accessed January 11, 2011,

²⁵⁸ "Water for All: Let Justice Flow, Organizer's Guide 2010," Development and Peace, accessed January 11, 2011,

Tax"), 260 a tax that "would shift the burden of crisis resolution from the general public to the financial sector...making the tax system fairer."²⁶¹

Summit Outcomes

Tearfund is a Christian faith-based organization that has created a global network of churches to assist those in the international community suffering from poverty. The organization also provides disaster relief and recovery, and advocacy. 262

According to Paul Cook, Tearfund's advocacy director, "The G8 leaders have missed a golden opportunity to join the dots on some of the causes of global poverty, by failing to address the need for clean water and basic sanitation in the commitment to maternal health," issues which the organization links directly to infant and maternal health. 263,264 Cook is also concerned with a lack of a plan of action to deliver on the 2015 Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), 265 believing that G8 commitments are simply a "repackaging of old commitments" by the "G8 rich club." 266 Tearfund suggests that MDGs should be monitored country-by-country between 2010 and 2015 with the involvement of civil society.²⁶⁷

According to KAIROS, urgent global issues were largely ignored by G8 leaders at the 2010 G8 Summit in Huntsville, Ontario. Maternal health, a key issue for many faith-based organizations, was allocated inadequate resources to address an urgent problem. Efforts and voices of nongovernmental organizations were shelved or largely ignored. KAIROS also denounces aggressive policing of the many peaceful G8 protestors that took place in Toronto, Canada, (in reaction to a few violent vandals) which kept many who wanted to speak out at home and detracted from important issues, severely calling into question Canadian civil liberties.²⁶⁸

World Vision is a Christian relief, advocacy and development organization working with children, families, and communities to overcome poverty and injustice. ²⁶⁹ World Vision found the

http://wvi.org/wvi/wviweb.nsf/maindocs/3F50B250D66B76298825736400663F21?opendocument

²⁶⁰ Sara Stratton, Education and Campaigns Coordinator, KAIROS, email message to author, January 11,

²⁶¹ "A commentary on the religious leaders statement from KAIROS: Canadian Ecumenical Justice Initiatives,". KAIROS, June 2010, accessed January 4, 2011, www.faithchallengeg8..com/pdfs/kairos response.pdf

²⁶² "About Us," *Tearfund*, accessed January 11, 2011, http://www.tearfund.org/About+us/default.htm

²⁶³ "Tearfund response to G8 communique," *Tearfund*, June 26, 2010, accessed 4 January 2011, http://www.tearfund.org/News/Press+releases/Summit+response.htm

²⁶⁴ "Response to MDG health strategy launch." *Tearfund*, September 22, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011, http://www.tearfund.org/News/Press+releases/MDG+summit+response+to+health+strategy.htm

²⁶⁵ Don't disappoint billions of people Tearfund urges Nick Clegg," *Tearfund*, September 21, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011.

http://www.tearfund.org/News/Press+release/Nick+Clegg+urged+not+to+dissappoint+billions+in+poverty.

²⁶⁶ "G8 and G20 – just not good enough," *Tearfund*, accessed January 4, 2011,

http://www.tearfund.org/Campaigning/Campaign+news/G8+and+G20+not+good+enough.htm

²⁶⁷ "Don't disappoint billions of people Tearfund urges Nick Clegg," *Tearfund*, September 21, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011.

http://www.tearfund.org/News/Press+release/Nick+Clegg+urged+not+to+dissappoint+billions+in+poverty.

²⁶⁸ KAIROS Times: Faithful Action for Justice (newsletter). "Voices Unheard: KAIROS statement on the occasion of the G8/G20". KAIROS, July 2010, accessed January 4, 2011,

2010 G8 Summit to be "tainted by low promises and low expectations." Robert Zachritz, director of advocacy for World Vision in the U.S., commends G8 leaders for acknowledging the lack of progress being made with respect to preventable child deaths, however: "Last year, 8.8 million children and at least 350,000 women died, most from preventable causes."²⁷¹ In addition, World Vision cites that "[m]ore than 170 million children under the age of five are stunted or severely wasted—conditions that can permanently damage their physical and mental development." Zachritz states that the sense of urgency (among G8 leaders) is missing with regard to child and maternal health issues²⁷³ and the allocation of USD5 billion—to be amortized over a five-year period—is not enough to effectively address this urgent global issue.²⁷⁴ In reaction to the G8 announcements, World Vision released a response acknowledging the steps taken by the leaders, but explaining why it was not enough to meet the demands of maternal and child health globally.²⁷⁵

The G8 verdict from Development and Peace is one of great disappointment. World leaders at the 2010 G8 Summit failed to recognize food sovereignty (the right of people to define their own food and agricultural systems)²⁷⁶ as a key issue to ensure food security. Development and Peace believes that policies adopted by the G8 leaders will undermine what could otherwise be "a sustainable, inclusive, and long-term approach to both the issues of climate change and food security."²⁷⁷ Executive Director Michael Casey hoped that Canada would take the opportunity to urge other G8 leaders to increase their support for small-scale agricultural activities, especially in the Global South. Canada did not fulfill this expectation. As a result, large-scale agro-business (most especially the agro-fuel business which requires high-yield soya or corn crops which consume great amounts of land) in the Global South will be permitted to expand without interruption, destabilizing the environment, displacing populations and endangering the livelihoods of a countless number of sustainable farmers. The poorest countries in the world will be gravely affected by this decision as will global environment. 278,279

Overall, faith-based organizations were dissatisfied with the 2010 G8 summit pledge toward improving global maternal and child health, the lack of urgency with respect climate control, and

http://www.worldvision.org/content.nsf/6d1210430917461d8825735a007e2f2b/20100624-G8-foodsecurity
273 "G8 Leaders Take Steps in the Right Direction," World Vision, June 30, 2010, accessed January 4.,

²⁷⁰ "G8 Leaders Take Steps in the Right Direction". World Vision, June 30, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011,

http://www.huffingtonpost.com/world-vision/g8-leaders-take-steps-in_b_626701.html
271 "G8 Leaders Take Steps in the Right Direction". World Vision, June 30, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011, http://www.huffingtonpost.com/world-vision/g8-leaders-take-steps-in b 626701.html

^{272 &}quot;G8 food security program can make or break PM Harper's child and maternal health plan," World Vision, June 24, 2010, accessed January 4, 2011,

^{2011,} http://www.huffingtonpost.com/world-vision/g8-leaders-take-steps-in b 626701.html

²⁷⁴ "World Vision on the underfunded G8 Muskoka Initiative," *World Vision*, June 25, 2010, accessed

January 4, 2011, http://www.worldvision.org/content.nsf/about/20100625-G8-Muskoka
²⁷⁵ World Vision Response Paper: G8 Leaders Taking Baby Steps in the Right Direction. Access Date June 26, 2010. http://www.worldvision.org/content.nsf/about/20100625-G8-summit-baby-steps?OpenDocument

²⁷⁶ "Water for All: Let Justice Flow, Organizer's Guide 2010," *Development and Peace*, accessed January 11, 2011, http://www.devp.org/devpme/eng/education/Doc/Campaign Guide 2010 PRINT.pdf

²⁷⁷ "G8 verdict from Caritas Canada," Caritas Canada (blog), July 1, 2010, accessed January 10, 2011, http://blog.caritas.org/2010/07/01/g8-verdict-from-caritas-canada/

²⁷⁸ "G8 verdict from Caritas Canada," Caritas Canada (blog), July 1, 2010, accessed January 10, 2011, http://blog.caritas.org/2010/07/01/g8-verdict-from-caritas-canada/

²⁷⁹ "G8 leaders fail to make link between hunger and climate change," Development and Peace, June 30, 2010, accessed January 11, 2011, http://www.devp.org/devpme/eng/pressroom/2010/comm2010-06-30eng.html

failure to find ecologically acceptable alternatives to large-scale agro-business in the Global South. In addition, faith-based organizations have indicated great concern with the arbitrary reduction of Canadian civil liberties during the summit period, which silenced the voices of many social activists.

Faith-based organizations continue to urge the G8 leaders to understand the magnitude and urgency of the gravest issues, emphasizing the interconnectedness of humanity and the environment, and our collective responsibility toward both. Importantly, KAIROS's recommendation of a nominal Financial Transaction Tax (FTT) on global business transactions could fund many of the 2015 Millennium Development Goals set out.

Celebrity Activists

Julian Dyer

Since the 2005 Gleneagles summit, celebrity activists have used their fame to attract media attention to their issues of choice, and to enjoy significant access to G8 leaders. In particular, Bob Geldof and Bono have attempted to solidify their position as anti-poverty campaigners through ONE, the advocacy group they jointly founded in 2002, and though collaboration with other activists, such as economist Jeffrey Sachs to educate the public on the issues of poverty reduction. This has drawn criticism from those who claim that popularizing complex issues that vary across circumstances and counter-intuitive solutions into simple messages for the public can have negative consequences. This critique has been disputed, citing the many celebrities becoming very well informed on the issues, and their ability to bring the issues they champion to the attention of the "soft media" and an audience academic discourse is unable to reach. Despite the debate concerning the benefits of their actions, the media attention they control and their freedom to champion causes on moral grounds, unconstrained by vested interests, have made celebrity activists significant actors at G8 summit.

Prior to the Muskoka summit of June 2010, the organization ONE, and its chief campaigners Bono and Bob Geldof worked, with support from Jeffrey Sachs, to bring issues of poverty and development to the attention of the public. While their earlier advocacy popularized the image of desperation — the LiveAid concerts were widely criticised for stereotyping all Africans as poor and starving — their message is now very different. The theme of their advocacy is now very much the "African Century," projecting the potential for progress driven by the people of the developing world, if given the key support they require now. ONE has also worked to remind the public of commitments made at earlier summits and to shame those who have not honoured their pledges.

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements and Utilization of Media

On 23 June 2010, a number of celebrity activists, including Scarlett Johansson, Naomi Campbell, Dame Judi Dench, Rio Ferdinand, Joanna Lumley, Angelique Kidjo, Celine Dion and long-time celebrity maternal health campaigner and fashion icon Christy Turlington Burns, signed an open letter to G8 leaders from the White Ribbon Alliance for Safe Motherhood (WRA) demanding action to improve maternal health. The letter aims to bring the extent of the problem to the attention of leaders, and remind the international community of previous pledges: "The international community has promised action, Millennium Development Goal 4 and 5 aim to reduce child deaths by two thirds and maternal deaths by three quarters by 2015, yet it's these goals that have made the least progress and we still have a very, very long way to go in making them happen." The letter requested a doubling of G8 aid for Maternal, Newborn and Child Health, specifically targeted at training health professionals and eliminating user fees for women

http://www.whiteribbonalliance.org/activities.cfm?a0=news&n0=886

²⁸⁰ Andrew F. Cooper (2007), Celebrity Diplomacy (Boulder CO: Paradigm), 265-267

²⁸¹ Open letter to G8 Leaders: **Top Celebrities Sign Up to Support G8 Pressure Group,** The White Ribbon Alliance for Safe Motherhood, June 23 2010.

and children.²⁸² Burns also contributed to the special African Century edition of the Globe and Mail to make a plea for maternal health. 283

The weight of celebrity publicity was immediately successful in bringing the issue to the attention of G8 leaders, and helping activists gain direct access to leaders. On 23 June 2010, UK Deputy Prime Minister Nick Clegg met with Christy Turlington Burns, and declared "Addressing maternal and infant mortality is the government's top priority for international development in 2010. The UK has challenged other countries to lower the shocking and shameful levels of maternal mortality through setting ambitious goals at the G8 this week." This was taken up by British PM David Cameron, who established a GBP5 million fund to help British midwives train their counterparts in the developing world, to set an example and pressure other G8 nations, in collaboration with Canada's Steven Harper, prior to the Muskoka Summit. 284

Bob Geldof and Bono were made celebrity guest editors of Toronto's The Globe and Mail newspaper, releasing a special Africa-focused edition on May 10 titled The African Century, focusing on the continent's potential. Bono announced, "Our aim in this special edition is to crack down on a few stereotypes and showcase the opportunities surrounding the African continent, not just the problems." Among the guest contributors were Steven Lewis, Kofi Annan, Carla Bruni, Ban Ki-moon, Rober Zoellick, Angelique Kidjo and Christy Turlington Burns. Bono and Geldof's editorial described Africa as "an unshackled continent. This century is being invented before our eyes, and Africa is the site of the greatest transformation. Canada, and the other G8 and G20 countries that gather in June, had better recognize opportunity knocking — before it knocks them over."286

Geldof and Bono describe a continent of great potential, but only if G8 countries act now. They listed some of the threats to African prosperity, "The recent recession has ... lowered investment in the continent, ... donor countries, such as France, Italy and Germany, have reneged on ... aid commitments made at the historic 2005 G8 summit in Gleneagles. This jeopardizes the tremendous strides made in Africa ..." as well as the benefits of African progress to the rest of the world. At the same time they issued a subtle threat to the G8 countries; that if they miss this opportunity for fruitful partnership with Africa, its potential wealth will be lost to the Chinese. "Africa, with its vast geographic advantages, ... resources ... and population, is an unstoppable force. It is also an attractive place to invest. One country has been quick to see Africa's promise: Chinese direct investment in the continent is accelerating. ... And yet Canada's government has made Africa less of a priority.",²⁸⁷

Celebrity activists have used their media access to shame G8 leaders by drawing attention to unfulfilled past promises. ONE singled out Italian leader Silvio Berlusconi for individual criticism, requesting that he be removed from the G8. "Italian Prime Minister Berlusconi is unique among the G8 because he is the only leader to have actually consistently cut effective aid

http://www.whiteribbonalliance.org/activities.cfm?a0=news&n0=886

Africa's Moment. The Globe and Mail. Toronto, Ont.: May 10, 2010. pg. A.16

²⁸² Open letter to G8 Leaders: **Top Celebrities Sign Up to Support G8 Pressure Group**, The White Ribbon Alliance for Safe Motherhood, June 23 2010.

Turlington Burns, Christy. Pull down the barriers to maternal health care access. Globe and Mail, May 10 2010, http://www.theglobeandmail.com/news/world/g8-g20/africa/pull-down-the-barriers-to-maternalhealth-care-access/article1562327/

²⁸⁴ Watt, Nicholas. David Cameron calls on G8 to target maternal deaths. The Guardian, June 3 2010 http://www.guardian.co.uk/politics/2010/jun/03/david-cameron-g8-maternal-mortality

Bono and Bob Geldof to guest-edit The Globe and Mail, ONE blog, May 5 2010.

Africa's Moment. The Globe and Mail. Toronto, Ont.: May 10, 2010. pg. A.16

to Africa since he personally signed the G8 communiqué with his own hand in 2005. This campaign is not a criticism of Italy or of Italian people, it is a criticism of one man who has broken his promise to an entire continent."288

Celebrity philanthropist Bill Gates joined the campaign of shame, using a USD30 million donation to highlight the failure of G8 nations to honour their commitments. At the 2009 L'Aquila summit, the G8 launched the L'Aquila Food Security Initiative, committing USD22 billion to sustainable agricultural development, yet at the time Gates made his donation, only USD875 million had been contributed by developed nations.²⁸⁹

Pre-Summit Protests/Public Awareness Events/Workshops

The issue of maternal health has been actively promoted at this G8 by a number of celebrities. supporting the White Ribbon Alliance and other organizations such as Oxfam, Save the Children and Amnesty International. Maternal health has also figured prominently in the education campaigns of ONE.

G8-Civil Society Initiatives

The high profile of celebrity activists gives them an advantage over other activists in gaining access to G8 leaders, such as US President Barack Obama agreeing to an interview with Bono, published in the African Century edition of the Globe and Mail, edited by Bono and Bob Geldof. The interview featured many promising commitments by Obama, reaffirming that "Development is a strategic and moral imperative for the United States," and that development is important to his administration, declaring that it was "[their] intention to elevate development so that it stands alongside defence and diplomacy as an equal." However, Obama did not make any measurable commitments, or concrete progress he hoped to make at the Muskoka Summit. There were vague references to "bring additional sources of capital to the table" and "to translate principles into action." 291 but Bono did not press Obama to make substantial commitments, or to take a stronger stance on G8 nations fulfilling pledges.

The ability of celebrities to gain direct access to leaders is a powerful tool, unavailable to the majority of other campaigners. In comparison to Bob Geldof's interview with Silvio Berlusconi prior to the 2009 L'Aquila Summit, where Geldof made the most of his opportunity to shame Berlusconi and demand that he acknowledge his country's failure to honour promises of aid.²⁹² Bono tamely made little of this opportunity.

Summit Outcomes

On 2 July 2010, ONE released a detailed analysis of the results of the G8 summit, and the communiqué released. In general, ONE was pleased with commitments made, but was critical of a worrying reluctance to pressure countries to honour commitments; "their focus on accountability stopped short of calling on countries who have not yet delivered on commitments to do so urgently." The communiqué mentioned the Gleneagles commitments only as a

About Hurl Berl, ONE International. http://www.one.org/international/actnow/hurlberl/about.html

²⁸⁹ MacAskill, Ewan. Bill Gates donates £20m to kickstart fund for farmers. The Guardian, April 22 2010 http://www.guardian.co.uk/technology/2010/apr/22/bill-gates-farmers-aid

²⁹⁰ Barack n' Roll. The Globe and Mail. Toronto, Ont: May 10, 2010 pg. A3

²⁹¹ Barack n' Roll. The Globe and Mail. Toronto, Ont: May 10, 2010 pg. A3

²⁹² Todd, Eloise. Berlusconi in Geldof Interview: "Africa, I'm Sorry". ONE International Blog. July 6, 2009. http://www.one.org/blog/2009/07/06/berlusconi-in-geldof-interview-africa-im-sorry/
293 ONE'S Analysis of The G8 Muskoka Summit Statements, ONE International Policy Brief., July 2 2010.

http://www.one.org/c/us/policybrief/3392/Accessed January 11 2011

baseline for measuring contributions, but "stopped short of calling for donors to follow through on unmet Gleneagles commitments." ONE's analysis is also sceptical of the aspirational commitments in the communiqué: "G8 commitments range from "aspirational" statements of policy to more measurable and trackable pledges, with aspirational commitments being the most difficult to track and monitor. For most commitments, the report avoids commenting on the ultimate delivery and does not specifically mention where individual donors are off-track to meet any of the commitments." The lack of detail in commitments, the tendency towards vague "aspirational" commitments and reluctance to pressure members to honour commitments meant ONE was generally critical of G8 accountability. ²⁹⁵

ONE welcomed action on maternal and newborn health, with the G8 announcing the Muskoka Initiative, and USD5 billion additional funding, expected to prevent 1.3 million child deaths, 64,000 maternal deaths and to provide access to family planning for 12 million couples.

A cynical assessment of the action taken towards maternal health is that it has been able to divert attention away from the larger commitments that have been broken. The USD5 billion (of which ONE is uncertain how much will be new funding) may have eased the pressure on leaders who collectively are lagging behind on the Gleneagles commitment to increase aid by USD50 billion. The media attention attracted to the issue by celebrity advocacy may have been co-opted to portray action, while continuing to renege on larger commitments. ²⁹⁶

²⁹⁴ ONE'S Analysis of The G8 Muskoka Summit Statements, ONE International Policy Brief., July 2 2010. http://www.one.org/c/us/policybrief/3392/ Accessed January 11 2011

²⁹⁵ ONE'S Analysis of The G8 Muskoka Summit Statements, ONE International Policy Brief., July 2 2010. http://www.one.org/c/us/policybrief/3392/ Accessed January 11 2011

296 Elliott, Larry and Wintour, Patrick. G8 seeks to divert attention from broken aid pledge. The Guardian,

June 25 2010 http://www.guardian.co.uk/world/2010/jun/25/g8-plan-to-cut-maternal-deaths

Service-Based Humanitarian Organizations

Laura Correa Ochoa

Humanitarian organizations are difficult to conceptualize in a single definition as they encompass a wide range of interests, topics, activities, and areas of operation. However, there are certain characteristics that can be attributed to all of them. They are often philanthropic in nature, in the sense they attempt to relieve people from a particular crisis that causes destruction, suffering or violates human rights.²⁹⁷

It is important to distinguish between human rights group and service based humanitarian organizations. While the former focuses on advocating protection of human rights and ensuring compliance by governments and non-state actors; the latter, tries to provide a particular service during and after times of natural disasters, violence and/or disease. It is also important to differentiate between service-based humanitarian organizations that have some governmental or state affiliation like USAID or Europe Aid; those that depend on multilateral aid like UNDP; and those that are private or voluntary like Oxfam and the International Red Cross.

Some of the major humanitarian organizations that operate in a global scale include Oxfam, the International Red Cross, Doctors Without Borders, Habitat for Humanity, and CARE. Since numerous humanitarian organizations have international objectives, they play a fundamental role in representing the most vulnerable and attempt to influence G8 summits by demanding greater commitment and aid for healthcare, food security, sustainability and/or education.

Over the last decade the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies have urged the G8 to "invest in a more long term action" to support food security prevention programs as well as in climate related risks. ²⁹⁸ In previous years, Doctors Without Borders (MSF) have urged the G8 to "provide access to affordable medicines," ²⁹⁹ and "to take action to save most vulnerable in food crisis." On 2 June 2003, MSF criticized the G8 Action Plan on Health, saying that they sacrifice "solutions to increase access to essential medicines in favour of G8 political and commercial interests." ³⁰¹ They further urged the G8 to do more in the "battle against"

Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.reference.com/browse/humanitarian+organizations+ .

298 Food security: IFRC's new secretary general urges G8 to invest more in long-term action, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, 4 July 2008. Date of Acess 11 February 2011.

http://www.ifrc.org/docs/news/pr08/4608.asp.

²⁹⁷ Food security: IFRC's new secretary general urges G8 to invest more in long-term action, International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies, 4 July 2008. Date of Acess 11 February 2011. http://www.ifrc.org/docs/news/pr08/4608.asp. Humanitarian Organizations, Reference 2011. Date of

MSF Urges G8 to Prioritize Access to Affordable Medicines in Planning Uses of International Health Funds, Doctors Without Borders, 21 July 2001. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. https://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/news/article.cfm?id=825%20&cat=field-news.

³⁰⁰ G8 Leaders Must Take Action to Save Most Vulnerable in Food Crisis, Doctors Without Borders, 3 July 2008. Date of Access: 11 February 2011.

http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/press/release.cfm?id=2828&cat=press-release.

³⁰¹G8 Offers the World an "Inaction Plan" on Health (Evian), Doctors Without Borders, 2 June 2003. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/press/release.cfm?id=416&cat=press-release.

AIDS."³⁰²Similarly, throughout the years, Oxfam has championed initiatives to improve access and provision of health and education.³⁰³ In recent years they have also called for greater G8 action to deal with Climate Change as it harms "harvests, livelihoods, health and safety."³⁰⁴ Moreover, after the last Summit, Oxfam declared that "Canada 2010 is the end of the road for the G8 — all the promises they have made are due. They have 12 short months to avoid being remembered as the ones who let the poor and the planet die."³⁰⁵

Summit Participation

On 24 June 2010, CARE called G8 countries to "show leadership on saving the lives of mothers and children." They pointed out that of all MDG's there has been less improvement in "reducing maternal and child mortality and achieving universal access to reproductive health." They also demanded that the G8 doubled its commitment to USD4 billion to accelerate the progress of these two MDG's. Similarly, World Vision also pointed out that despite the current economic situation, G8 leaders should still make global poverty, and particularly child and maternal health part of their agenda. They also congratulated G8 and G20 members for making progress concerning the Gleneagles commitments and the US government for maintaining its promises regarding HIV/AIDS. On 25 June 2010, Oxfam expressed its skepticism about the maternal mortality announcement, arguing that this could simply be "a distraction from their broken promises" after their fail to meet their commitment to increase aid to USD50 billion by 2010, by over USD20 billion. They further remarked that any "new" money dedicated to maternal health will have to come out of other "vital" sectors. In other words, "Unless aid increases, African children will be paying for their mothers' healthcare by sacrificing their education."

On 27 June 2010, Oxfam with other civil society groups, including: the Canadian Labour Congress, the Ontario Federation of Labour, the Council of Canadians, Greenpeace and the Canadian Federation of Students, "organized a peaceful demonstration in Toronto on Saturday which attracted over 10,000 people." Oxfam criticized the violence that occurred after since it detracted attention from the important issues being discussed at the Summits "at a time when millions of lives are hanging in the balance as a result of ongoing poverty around the globe." ³¹⁰On

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

³⁰² G8 Needs to Do More in the Battle Against AIDS, Doctors Without Borders (New York/Okinawa), 21 July 2000. Date of Access: 11 February 2011.

http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/press/release.cfm?id=616&cat=press-release.

Oxfam's verdict on the G8 Summit: Cooking the books and cooking the planet, Oxfam 10 July 2009. Date of Access 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2009-07-10/oxfam-verdict-g8-summit-cooking-books-and-cooking-planet.

cooking-books-and-cooking-planet.

304 G8: Action needed on Climate Change, Oxfam, 2009. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/campaigns/g8-2009/action-needed-climate-change

Oxfam's verdict on the G8 Summit: Cooking the books and cooking the planet, Oxfam 10 July 2009. Date of Access 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.org/en/pressroom/pressrelease/2009-07-10/oxfam-verdict-g8-summit-cooking-books-and-cooking-planet.

³⁰⁶ CARE Calls on G8 Nations to Show Leadership on Saving the Lives of Mothers and Children (Washington), CARE, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011.

http://www.care.org/newsroom/articles/2010/06/g8-maternal-health-mothers-matter-20100624.asp.

307 G8 Leaders Called on to Address Poverty, Maternal and Child Health, VOA News, 18 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.voanews.com/english/news/africa/decapua-g8-world-vision-18jun10-96661674.html.

³⁰⁸ Oxfam Briefing: Maternal Health, Oxfam, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2099.

³⁰⁹ Smoke and Mirrors Won't Save Lives, Oxfam, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2112.

³¹⁰ Reactive to events following peaceful protest, Oxfam, 27 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2123.

24 June 2010, Oxfam G8 "Big heads" were displayed in Huntsville naked and pregnant to "illustrate the G8's failure to keep their promises to poor people around the world." The next day, the G8 Big Heads portrayed G8 leaders as tourists instead of powerful leaders. 312

On 24 June 2010, Bill Nighy — actor and Oxfam Global Ambassador — at a media breakfast in Toronto spoke out against G8 "broken promises" from the 2005 Gleneagles Summit . He was accompanied by Dorothy Ngoma, a Malawian nurse and activist, who urged G8 leaders to "improve health services for mothers-to-be and prevent the deaths of 350,000 women and girls who die in pregnancy and childbirth each vear." 313

On 27 April 2010, CARE expressed its support for Muskoka's Maternal Health initiative but emphasized that the "primary focus must be on the lives of these women and not solely on controversial issues pertaining to maternal health." They also stressed the need for "a comprehensive and all-encompassing strategy on maternal health," as reinforced by Canadians Civil Society Organizations during the Civil G8 meeting in Vancouver. 314

CARE International, in partnership with other international organizations that work on maternal, newborn and child health programs, is calling on G8 nations to commit to a doubling of resources to \$4 billion annually to accelerate progress on MDGs 4 & 5, including investing in health systems that deliver quality interventions along the continuum of care in communities, clinics and hospitals. These investments would leverage the \$30 billion in total global funding needed by 2015 to support maternal, newborn and child health care interventions.³¹⁵

On 22 June 2010, Doctors Without Borders pointed out that in order to improve mother and child health in the developing world, they first need to "address malnutrition and establish new sustainable funding sources to combat this treatable and preventable condition." They also stated that NGOs cannot be expected to combat malnutrition alone and that "donor governments need to step up to fill the gap and help the most-affected countries follow lifesaving nutrition programs that have been successfully implemented in countries like Mexico, Thailand, and Brazil."³¹⁶

Summit Outcomes

During the Muskoka Summit G8 leaders acknowledged various demands made by humanitarian organizations. The G8 reiterated its commitments to fight hunger and poverty through research and "agricultural productivity." Leaders also reiterated their support efforts to provide "universal access to prevention, treatment, care and support with respect to HIV/AIDS," as well as initiatives to eradication of polio and elimination of NTD's.

http://www.care.ca/main/index.php?en&pressReleases&newsidnew=153.

http://www.doctorswithoutborders.org/press/release.cfm?id=4534&cat=press-release.

³¹¹ http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2083.

Media Advisory: Lost tourists or powerful leaders? Oxfam, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2098.

³¹³ G8 must act on aid and maternal health: Media Breakfast with actor Bill Nighy, Oxfam, 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2086.

³¹⁴ CARE Canada's position on Maternal Health, CARE, 27 May 2010, Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.care.ca/main/index.php?en&pressReleases&newsidnew=151.

CARE calls on G8 nations to show leadership to save the lives of mothers and children, CARE, 25 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011.

³¹⁶ G8: Reform Food Aid System And Generate Resources to Reduce Malnutrition, Doctors Without Borders (Toronto/Geneva), 22 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011.

The G8 further emphasized its desire to improve maternal and child health through the Muskoka Initiative, "a comprehensive and integrated approach to accelerate progress towards MDGs 4 and 5 that will significantly reduce the number of maternal, newborn and under five child deaths in developing countries." G8 leaders decided to provide USD5 billion of additional founding to "accelerate progress on MDG's 4 and 5.317

After the Summit CARE commended the Canadian government for prioritizing maternal, newborn, and child health. However, the organization expressed "its disappointment with G8 leaders who, as a group, failed to step forward and back the Canadian 'Muskoka Initiative' with adequate funds for lifesaving maternal, newborn and child health care interventions worldwide." They are also disappointed with the amount of money committed to the initiative. 318

On a similar note, Oxfam criticized G8 leaders "for their failure to deliver on their promises and for trying to divert attention by cobbling together a small initiative for maternal and child health." They further pointed out that "the G8's failure will leave a sad legacy of kids out of school, denied medicines for the sick, and no food for the hungry."319

On 16 July 2010, Oxfam also pointed out that in order to meet the 2001 promise to provide "universal HIV and AIDS treatment, care and prevention by 2010" international donors need to contribute US20 billion to the Global Fund. 320 After the International AIDS conference in Vienna, Oxfam declared that "world leaders made no real commitments to ensure universal access to prevention, treatment and care for AIDS," they noted that this is reminiscent of the G8 Muskoka Summit where leaders "admitted that this year they will break their promise to provide universal access "321

³¹⁷ G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings, Government of Canada (Muskoka), 26 June 2011. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.canadainternational.gc.ca/g8/summitsommet/2010/muskoka-declaration-muskoka.aspx?lang=eng.

318 CARE Gives G8 a Yellow Card for Performance on Maternal Health; Pleads with World Leaders to Fill

Remaining Funding Gap at Upcoming Millennium Development Summit, CARE (Toronto), 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.care.org/newsroom/articles/2010/06/g8-disappointmentwith-leaders-20100626.asp.

³¹⁹ G8's summit of shame fails people living in poverty, Oxfam, 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2119.

³²⁰ Global Fund needs \$20B to reach 2010 goal of universal HIV/AIDS treatment, Oxfam, 16 July 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2204.

321 International AIDS conference leaves health activists despairing, Oxfam, 24 July 2010. Date of Access:

¹¹ February 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2227.

Philanthropic Foundations

Sara Lee

Philanthropic foundations are charitable organizations that raise funds to address wide range of issues, including; global maternal health, poverty reduction, access to education, access to information technology, environmental protection, sustainable development, women's rights and access to clean drinking water. While many philanthropic organizations operate domestically, the most relevant to the G8 are the international philanthropic groups, founded in rich countries, to benefit those in underdeveloped countries. The major philanthropic organizations examined in this report are: the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF); the William J. Clinton Foundation; ONE, founded by musician and activist Bono; and the Rockefeller Foundation.

Philanthropic organizations do not tend to initiate their own projects, but fund existing projects and partnerships. As such, they are crucial sources of income for other civil society organizations such as CARE, Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa, and Save the Children, and also UN subsidiaries such as the World Food Program. Philanthropic organizations also function as advocacy networks to raise awareness and support for certain issues, rather than their own programs.

Summit Participation

On 22 April 2010, in a joint press release with representatives of the governments of the United States, South Korea, Spain, and Canada, Bill Gates of the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF) announced the creation of a global trust fund for the impoverished small farmers of the developing world, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia. This would boost funds for existing BMGF partners, such as the Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa (AGRA). Gates expressed a firm belief that funding small farmers, and connecting them with contracts with the World Food Program (WFP) for distribution in their own countries was a step towards development, sustainability, and ending global poverty.

Preceding the 25-29 June 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit, the attention of philanthropic organizations was focused largely on maternal health and childcare. In a 7 June 2010 press release, Melinda Gates announced the BMGF's commitment to maternal, newborn, and child health and nutrition, particularly in developing nations. More specifically, Gates reiterated the BMGF's pledge of USD1.5 billion over the next 5 years to fund the training of health workers, and research on efficient contraceptives, birthing practices, and breastfeeding advocacy. The foundation began with a USD94 million dollar pledge to India, and USD60 million to Ethiopia. In a 24 June 2010 blog post, in light of the upcoming G8 summit, Gates again emphasized the BMGF's "[Commitment] to Women and Children." She urged developed nations of the world not to cut developmental assistance, but to "move forward." See the attention of philanthropic organizations and content of particular to the second organization of the world not to cut developmental assistance, but to "move forward." See the attention of philanthropic organizations are release, Melinda Gates announced the BMGF's pleader of the attention of the second organization of the second organization of the second organization of the second organization organization.

http://www.gatesfoundation.org/press-releases/Pages/women-deliver-2010-100607.aspx

³²² Foundation Joins Global Trust Fund to Support Small Farmers, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Seattle): 22 April 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011. http://www.gatesfoundation.org/press-releases/Pages/global-trust-fund-for-poor-farmers-100422.aspx

Melinda Gates Calls for Global Action to Save Women's and Children's Lives, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Seattle): 7 June 2010. Date of access 22 January 2011.

³²⁴Committing to Women and Children, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Seattle) 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011. http://www.gatesfoundation.org/foundationnotes/Pages/melinda-gates-100624-committing.aspx

On 18 June 2010, Judith Rosin, president of the Rockefeller Foundation wrote Keith H. Christie. the G8 Foreign Affairs Sous-Sherpa for Canada, applauding "Canada's leadership in the UN and G8 initiative on Maternal, Newborn and Under-Five Child Health." She also referred to the Rockefeller Foundation's "e-Health" initiative to incorporate mobile phones into plans addressing maternal and child health.⁴ Rodin concluded by pledging the Rockefeller Foundation's support for the global health effort outlined in the G8's Muskoka Initiative documentation.

Directly preceding the summit, ONE continuously and directly pressured G8 leaders to address the following issues: firstly maternal and child health, and accountability in these issues, and secondly, mutually accountable partnership with Africa based on good governance, trade and investment.³²⁶ On 23 June 2010, ONE presented a petition of over 58,000 names to Prime Minister Stephen Harper in Ottawa, Canada. 327 The petition called for "3.5 million new health workers to help mothers and children." The petition especially urged G8 for "a robust maternal and health initiative that includes accountability measures."

Other major philanthropic organizations, such as the William J. Clinton Foundation, appear not to have made direct statements to the G8 or participating countries.

The G8 Muskoka Initiative regarding maternal health can be regarded as a response to the pressures of the previously outlined statements by the BMGF, the Rockefeller Foundation, and ONE. 328 The Muskoka Initiative focuses on widespread delivery of cost-effective and scientifically-proven maternal healthcare, particularly in poverty-stricken areas. This also includes maternal and child nutrition, and prevention and effective treatment of HIV/AIDS and malaria The G8 pledged USD5.0 billion over the next five years for the Muskoka Initiative. The importance of access to accurate information, and sharing of technological innovation were also emphasized. Each G8 member was left to fulfill this initiative in bilateral interactions, multilateral organizations, and/or civil society organizations as they pleased.

In the Muskoka Initiative, the G8 also aimed to improve accountability and transparency through more regular monitoring, reporting, and evaluation of G8 compliance. The goal of the Muskoka Initiative was the same as the 2001 Millennium Development Goals 4 and 5: "reduce by twothirds between 1990 and 2015, the under-five mortality rate; ii) reduce by three-quarters, also between 1990 and 2015, the maternal mortality ratio; and iii) achieve, by 2015, universal access to reproductive health."

Summit Outcomes

Following the conclusion of the summit, on 16 July 2010, ONE expressed discontent over the Muskoka Initiative regarding maternal health. ³²⁹ ONE pointed out that the Muskoka Initiative had failed to specify how the USD5.0 billion was to be delivered, and left little transparency for

³²⁵ Letter from the Rockefeller Foundation to Keith H. Christie, the Rockefeller Foundation (New York): 18 June 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011.

http://canadainternational.gc.ca/g8/summitsommet/2010/mnch letter8 isne.aspx?lang=eng

Blopost: ONE Welcomed to G8/G20 by Toronto Mayor! ONE: 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011. http://www.one.org/blog/2010/06/24/one-welcomed-to-g8g20-by-toronto-mayor/

³²⁷ Blogpost: G8 Petition Delivery: Earthquake Edition, ONE: 24 June 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011. http://www.one.org/blog/2010/06/24/g8-petition-delivery-earthquake-edition/

³²⁸ The G8 Muskoka Initiative: Maternal, Newborn and Under-Five Child Health, G8 Information Centre (Toronto): 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2010.

http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/summit/2010muskoka/communique.html
329 Blogpost: On Accountability, G8 fails to Walk the Walk, Nora Coghlan, ONE, 16 July 2010. Date of Access 22 January 2010. http://www.one.org/blog/2010/07/16/on-accountability-g8-fails-to-walk-the-walk/

monitoring and accountability. According to ONE, the Muskoka Initiative was unsatisfactorily "too general."

On 5 August 2010, the BMGF announced that The Living Proof Project, which had previously been overseen by the BMGF, was to be transferred to the care of ONE.³³⁰ The Living Proof Project was largely a 'storytelling' multimedia project BMGF expressed the desire for The Living Proof Project to expand under ONE's oversight. The BMGF urged readers to support ONE, in order to pressure G8 and G20 nations to honour the commitments made at the Muskoka Summit, particularly regarding international development.

Other philanthropic organizations appear to have been fairly inactive in terms of direct response to the G8 Muskoka Summit.

_

³³⁰ Gates Foundation Transitions The Living Proof Project to ONE, the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (Seattle): 5 August 2010. Date of Access: 22 January 2011. http://www.gatesfoundation.org/press-releases/Pages/foundation-transitions-living-proof-project-to-one-080510.aspx

Trade Unions

Laura Correa Ochoa

Trade unions are organizations that represent workers. Their main objective is to improve employment conditions while campaigning for beneficial laws and policies. Although most labour unions tend to operate at a local or national level, through the globalization of markets and financial systems, some trade unions have adopted a more international agenda. Trade unions in international character often advocate for more equal and open terms of trade between developed and developing countries, removal of tariffs, and in cases protection for a regional based union.

In 1997, the International Confederation of Free Trade unions (now ITUC) were first invited to take part in a G8 summit, where it called for a "social partnership" to fight unemployment and provide job security.³³¹ Today the ITUC represents 176 million workers in 151 different countries and territories. Due to the global financial crisis, in 2009 the ITUC pressed G8 leaders for employment opportunities and economic recovery.³³² Nevertheless, over the last decade the role of trade unions regarding G8 initiatives and advocacy has expanded to other sectors. Trade unions have pressed G8 leaders for a "fairer distribution of the benefits of globalization." Amongst these "stronger social protection in developing and emerging countries."³³³ Similarly, they have call for actions for extended debt relief in the developing world,³³⁴ as well as greater actions in managing Global Food Crisis.³³⁵ Health has also become a top priority for labour unions, African Trade Unions have demanded greater commitments from G8 leaders in regards to HIV/AIDS, calling for a G8 AIDS working group.³³⁶ In the past the European Trade Union Confederations has also demanded greater "responsibility" from G8 leaders in terms of Climate Change initiatives.³³⁷

Summit Participation

Policy Papers, Press Statements and Utilization of Media

Prior to the Summit, different trade unions around the world expressed their concerns, demands and expectations from G8 leaders. On 19 June 2010, at the World Conference on Sustainability by ICEM and IMF, Global Trade unions pressed for "environmental, social and economic sustainability" from G8/G20 leaders. Labour activists and unionists also demanded secure jobs and social safety nets. Monica Veloso, vice president of the National Confederation of Metalworkers in Brazil, also emphasized the importance of workers having a say "in the public

22

³³¹ Trade unions propose a "social partnership" to the G, ICFTU (Brussels), 28 November 1997. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.hartford-hwp.com/archives/26/064.html.

³³² G8: Trade Union Leaders Push on Employment, ITUC, 8 July 2009. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ituc-csi.org/g8-trade-union-leaders-push-on.html?lang=en.

³³³ Trade union leaders call on G8 for a fairer distribution of benefits of globalisation, ETUC, 3 May 2007. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.etuc.org/a/3626.

³³⁴ Trade unions welcome G8 action and call for extended debt relief, General Federation of Iraqi Workers, 15 June 2005. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.iraqitradeunions.org/wordpress/?p=258

³³⁵ Trade unions welcome G8 action and call for extended debt relief, General Federation of Iraqi Workers, 15 June 2005. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ituc-csi.org/g8-trade-unions-demand-action-on.html.

³³⁶ African trade unions at UN CSD call for G8 AIDS working group, G8 AIDS Campaign, 5 July 2007. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ua2010.org/es/G8-AIDS/Temas-de-la-campana-global-del-G8/Grupo-de-Trabajo-del-G8/African-trade-unions-at-UN-CSD-call-for-G8-AIDS-working-group.
³³⁷ Climate change: the European Trade Union Confederation (1997) and 1997 (1997) an

³³⁷ Climate change: the European Trade Union Confederation calls on the G8 countries to shoulder their responsibility, ETCU, 5 June 2007. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.etuc.org/a/3689.

regulation of the economy." The conference produced the declaration "Fighting Together-Fighting for a Sustainable Future" which calls G8/G20 leaders to strengthen "financial, environmental and labour regulations" and ensure "that these are included in any trade agreements, along with effective enforcement mechanisms." The declaration also demanded the implementation of the Robin Hood Tax, the creation of "green jobs," a comprehensive agreement on greenhouse gases, and the inclusion of labour unions and civil society groups "in bilateral and multilateral trade agreements."

In the official Global Unions' Statement to the G8/G20 Ontario Summits –which includes ITUC, TUAC and BWI — they called G8 leaders to "meet aid commitments and support the MDG's" while developing a framework to monitor "delivery of commitments." They also demanded that the G8 "invest in public services," make job opportunities the core of development strategies, and create "quality employment" for women. In terms of healthcare, they call G8 member to increase resources to achieve HIV/AIDS Universal Access and "replenish the Global Fund for AIDS, TB and Malaria." Global Unions also called G8/G20 leaders to stops the IMF's promotion of "austere adjustment policies, together with conditions on loans that require the deregulation of labour markets and the weakening of worker protection." They also called G8 members to make a real commitment to achieve Education For All, as it is "a key factor to sustain recovery." They also pointed out that several numerous G8 members have reduced their aid budgets, Italy by 31.1 percent and Germany by 12 percent, making it difficult to achieve this initiative. Furthermore, Global Unions pressured G8 leaders "to combat tax evasion and tax heavens." Since the MDG's" and Support the MDG's and Support the MDG's and Support the MDG's and Support the MDG's and Supp

One of the major initiatives of trade unions during and leading up to the Summit revolved around HIV/AIDS. In the last week of March, trade unions and civil society groups launched a campaign to pressure Canadian Prime Minister Stephen Harper to formulate a comprehensive plan to "achieve Universal Access to HIV & AIDS Prevention, Treatment, Care and Support," by targeting Canadian Embassies around the world. Some of the organizations that participated include the African Regional Organization of the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC-Africa) and the Canadian Labour Congress (CLC) who lobbied in both Africa and Canada. The Global Union AIDS Programme (GUAP) and the Global ITUC also participated and called "countries to broaden the scope of the campaign beyond Africa." Unions argue that alleviating HIV/AIDS is necessary to produce "social and economic stability," since the majority of infected people are of working age. 340

On 24 March 2010, the three main trade unions in South Africa, COSATU, NACTU, and FEDUSA along with representatives from a multi-faith civil society network and World AIDS Campaign met with the Canadian Embassy to discuss HIV/AIDS issues. They not only demanded action for Universal Access, but also emphasized the ILO Decent Work objectives and its Global

³³⁹ G8/G20 Summits: Unions urge world leaders to learn lessons of the past, Education International, 16 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ei-ie.org/en/news/show.php?id=1282&theme=ei&country=global.

_

³³⁸ Take Action on Jobs to Sustain the Recovery, Global Unions' statement to the G8/G20 ontario sUmmits Canada, June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ituc-csi.org/IMG/pdf/Final-Trade Union Statement to G20 Toronto .pdf.

³⁴⁰ Backgrounder on the G8/G20 & Universal Access, Canadian Labour Congress, 7 April 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.canadianlabour.ca/news-room/publications/backgrounder-g8g20-universal-access.

Jobs Pact.³⁴¹ This was further reinforced by Indian trade unions who promoted the campaign via Facebook called "I support Universal Access to HIV & AIDS Services."³⁴²

Summit Outcomes

For years, economic matters have been one of the top priorities of G8 members. In the 2010 Muskoka Summit G8 members reiterated their continued commitment to "free and open markets," as well as to the Doha Development Agenda. G8 leaders also stated that they "promote liberalization of trade and investment under the WTO, through the national reduction of barriers, as well as through bilateral and regional negotiations." They also promise to reduce or eliminate trade barriers for environmental goods and services and create jobs in this field.

In terms of health, G8 leaders reaffirm their commitments to achieve Universal Access goals, to eradicate polio and mitigate NTD's. One of the focus of the Summit was maternal, newborn and child health, where, through the Muskoka Initiative, G8 members promised an additional \$5 billion, over a period of five years. G8 leaders also declared that food security would also be one of their commitments in the upcoming years and highlighted the need to increase investment in developing countries as a developmental tool. 343

Despite the reaffirmations and commitments, on 6 July 2010 the Trade Union Advisory Committee (TUAC) and the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) stated that "there is a shortfall of \$50bn by 2010 to meet the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) in 2015." Nevertheless, they welcome G8's initiative to cancel Haiti's International debt with Financial Institutions and commitments for improving child mortality and maternal health.³⁴⁴

³⁴¹ G8/G20 Universal Access Campaign on AIDS, OPSUE Local, 20 March 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.opseu520.org/?cat=24.

Trade Unions in India deliver G8/Universal Access messages to Canadian & national governments, Facebook, 20 April 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.facebook.com/note.php?note_id=119081161441986.

³⁴³G8 Muskoka Declaration Recovery and New Beginnings, Government of Canada (Muskoka), 26 June 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.canadainternational.gc.ca/g8/summit-sommet/2010/muskoka-declaration-muskoka.aspx?lang=eng.

³⁴⁴ G20/G8 Summit Declarations: Governments agree to disagree, Education International, 6 July 2010. Date of Access: 11 February 2011. http://www.ei-ie.org/en/news/show.php?id=1312&theme=ei&country=global.

Educational Campaigns

Rameez Mahmood

In the words of Nelson Mandela, "Education is the most powerful weapon we can use to change the world." Mandela's suggestion is easily perceptible given that the richest countries in the world are often knowledge-based economies. Education has always been the backdrop to success and ingenuity in the modern world. This truth resides in the numbers. If all children left school with basic reading skills, 171 million people could be annexed from poverty. A child whose mother cannot read or write is 50% more likely to die before reaching the age of 5.347 An educated girl in Africa is three times less likely to contract HIV/AIDS. An argument for the pre-eminence of knowledge production over poverty reduction can be made.

Today, approximately 72 million children³⁴⁹ and 266 million³⁵⁰ adolescents are not in school. 759 million adults cannot read or write.³⁵¹ However, these numbers are reduced from 112 million children out of school³⁵² and 871 illiterate adults at the start of the century.³⁵³ In 2000, the achievement of Universal Primary Education (UPE) was established as the second Millennium Development Goal (MDG). Also in 2000, the Education for All (EFA) goals were stipulated at the World Education Forum, which 180 countries endorsed. Some of the proclaimed commitments included achieving universal access to education for children and adults; removing the gender disparity in education accessibility; and improving the quality of education.³⁵⁴

Within this framework, the recipient states were charged with the task of developing education policies appropriate for their country, while having a transparent and democratic process, inclusive of donors and civil society organizations. ³⁵⁵ In 2002, the Fast Tract Initiative (EFA-FTI) became the pragmatic framework for achieving EFA. It created a "compact" between poor

³⁴⁵ Education the Most Powerful Weapon to Change the World, NGO Pulse Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://www.ngopulse.org/article/education-most-powerful-weapon-change-world

Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

³⁴⁷ Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

³⁴⁸ Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

³⁴⁹ Stephen Lewis and Kevin Watkins "Education is G8's chance to leave a lasting legacy," Toronto Star (Toronto), 25 March 2010. Date of Access: 11 January, 2011,

http://www.thestar.com/opinion/article/784872--education-is-g8-s-chance-to-leave-a-lasting-legacy
350 Sharing Responsibilities to Advance Education for All, G8 Information Centre (Toronto) July 2009.

Date of Access: 15 January 2010. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/summit/2009laquila/2009-experts-education.pdf

education.pdf
351 Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

³⁵² Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

The State of Play on Education for All, EI's Response to the Global Monitoring Report 2006 Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://www.world-governance.org/spip.php?article248

³⁵⁴ Education for All: Meeting Our Collective Commitments, Dakar Framework for Action. 28 April 2000 Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://www.unesco.org/education/efa/ed_for_all/dakfram_eng.shtml
³⁵⁵ Education for All: Meeting Our Collective Commitments, Dakar Framework for Action. 28 April 2000 Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://www.unesco.org/education/efa/ed_for_all/dakfram_eng.shtml

countries and their donors, aiming for the efficient delivery of resources, technical know-how, and budgeting. It also tried to pave the way towards a greater level of accountability. 356

The G8 meetings and states have spearheaded large achievements towards EFA goals. In fact, the FTI framework was established by the G8 in 2002. Society has similarly been at the forefront of providing and advocating for UPE along with the broader EFA goals. The first substantial step towards addressing issues of education worldwide was at the 1990 World Conference on Education for All, which saw heavy Civil Society participation. From there on, the campaign for education goals within the NGO sector became typified by the creation of the international, coalitional NGO, The Global Campaign for Education, formed in 1999. It incorporates large international NGOs such as Oxfam, Education International, Save the Children, and Action Aid. John Gaventa and Marjorie Mayo of the University of Sussex hail it as "one of the longest-standing global campaigns on a poverty-related issue, ... able to build and maintain a strong, diverse, inclusive coalition across many countries and across many layers and levels of policymaking and policy implementation."

GCE has played a pivotal role in education advocacy to the G8. In 2002, for example, at the Kananaskis Summit in Canada, they lobbied, encouraged, and reported on the endorsement of the FTI Education for All initiative. They published a report documenting what has been agreed upon and what more needs to be done. Another significant effort by the GCE has been the annual Global Action Week. It has consisted of varying activities such as protests, lobbying efforts, symposiums and press conferences, with the intention of pointing governments' worldwide education needs. Just in the first Action Week, events were held in over a 100 countries. The event's statement proclaimed "We are watching you" to rich countries.

In the 2008 Action Week, they garnered a crowd of nine million people, along with notable celebrities, to demand EFA. They have also published reports on various topics related to EFA

_

³⁵⁶ About FTI, Education for All (Washington) 2 February 2011. Date of Access: 2 February 2011. http://www.educationfasttrack.org/about-fti/

Special Report: Millennium Development Goals Must be Met, Education International (Brussels) September 2010. Date of Access: 29 January 2011. http://download.ei-ie.org/Docs/WebDepot/WOE35 EN 02 09.pdf

About Education for All, UNESCO (Paris) 2 January 2011. Date of Access: 29 January 2011. http://www.unesco.org/new/en/education/themes/leading-the-international-agenda/education-for-all/the-efa-movement/

efa-movement/
³⁵⁹ About GCE, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) 1 January 2011. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. Http://www.campaignforeducation.org/en/about/about-gce/

³⁶⁰ Spanning Citizenship Spaces Through Transnational Coalitions: The Case of the Global Campaign for Education, Institute of Development Studies (Brighton) June 2009. Date of Access: 5 January 2011. Pg. 20. http://www.drc-citizenship.org/publications/Wp327.pdf

³⁶¹ News from the Global Campaign for Education, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) December 2002. Date of Access: 5 January 2011.

³⁶² Events, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) December 2001. Date of Access: 5 January 2011.

 $[\]underline{http://web.archive.org/web/20010723053540/www.campaignforeducation.org/_html/events/welcome/fram_eset.shtml}$

³⁶³ Events, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) December 2001. Date of Access: 5 January 2011.

 $[\]underline{http://web.archive.org/web/20010723053540/www.campaignforeducation.org/_html/events/welcome/frameset.shtml}$

eset.shtml
364 About GCE, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) 1 January 2011. Date of Access: 4 January 2011. http://www.campaignforeducation.org/en/about/about-gce/

goals since their inception. Over the year they have garnered substantial support from celebrities and important personalities on their campaigns, including Nelson Mandela, Graca Machel, Jessica Alba, Hillary Clinton, Zinedine Zidane, Ban Ki-Moon, Shakira, and Queen Rania of Jordon. 365-366

International NGOs covering education development have been an integral part of GCE. Nonetheless, some of them have acted independently in campaigning for EFA. Education International has the Hands Up for Education campaign that directs attention to the needs of education in countries, following the global economic crisis, for instance.³⁶⁷ Oxfam, Save the Children, and Action Aid International, all have published numerous reports on topics relevant to education, particularly collecting valuable data on the ground. This report shall focus on the EFA goals, as those are endorsed by the G8. Particular attention will be given to GCE because it subsumes much of the activism and advocacy on realizing EFA goals.

Summit Participation

In January 2010, GCE published the 2009 School Reports that detailed the progress of 22 rich countries, encompassing the G8, on EFA goals. The publication, designed as a school report card, gave letter grades to the state leaders on certain key goals such as focusing on girls' education. 368 PM Harper, for instance, received a 'C' grade, being told, "He is far from reaching the international Pearson target for ODA, and seems to be losing interest in Africa."369

The popular 1GOAL campaign was launched in October 2009, with FIFA being a key supporter. It aimed to rally mass support from soccer fans worldwide behind the GCE. At the launch, the heads of states of UK, South Africa, Spain, and Netherlands spoke in support of the campaign. Soccer players such as Zidane, Giberto Silva, and Thierry Henry also endorsed the campaign. 370 At the African Cup of Nations 1GOAL, was highly active, with radio and TV broadcasts, advertisements, and numerous soccer ambassadors. The campaign has been headed by Queen Rania of Jordan. Prior to the G8 Summit, ActionAid also held international events in support of 1GOAL. In Bangladesh, ActionAid organized soccer games in 31 districts, and held post-match signature-gatherings for the campaign. At the same time, they published a toolkit helping finance ministers and activists create effective financing strategies for achieving the EFA goals.³⁷¹

On the eve of the Muskoka G8, Oxfam, in a press release, warned of massive shortcomings in delivering on promises of aid made by the G8. Not referring to education aid specifically, they identified a shortfall of \$20 billion, based on the targets set at the 2005 Gleneagles Summit.³⁷²

³⁶⁵ 1GOAL (Johannesburg) 1 December 2010. Date of Access: 2 January 2011. http://www.join1goal.org/ ³⁶⁶ Education Action, Action Aid (Johannesburg) May 2010. Date of Access: 5 January 2011. http://www.actionaid.org/assets/pdf%5CEducationAction24English.pdf

³⁶⁷ Hands Up for Education, Education International (Brussels) 1 December 2010. Date of Access: 5

January 2011. http://www.ei-ie.org/handsup/en/index.php
368 2009 Report Card, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) 22 January 2010. Date of Access: 2

http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/ReportCards2009%20ENGFinal.pdf 2009 Report Card, Global Campaign for Education (Johannesburg) 22 January 2010. Date of Access: 2

http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/ReportCards2009%20ENGFinal.pdf ³⁷⁰ Education Action, Action Aid (Johannesburg) May 2010. Date of Access: 5 January 2011.

http://www.actionaid.org/assets/pdf%5CEducationAction24English.pdf

³⁷¹ ActionAid backs 1GOAL Campaign Calling for More Funding and Greater Prioritisation for Education, Action Aid (Johannesburg) 7 June 2010. Date of Access: 2 February 2011.

http://www.actionaid.org/pages.aspx?PageID=34&ItemID=560
372 "Bounced Cheques Undermine G8's Credibility" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011. http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2092

Mark Fried, Oxfam's G8 spokesperson commented, "The \$20 billion owed to poor men and women is just 0.0006% of the gross national income of G8 countries, yet is enough to put every child in school."373

GCE, and other campaigns focusing solely on education, did not have events directed specifically towards the G8. Campaigns and NGOs reacted following the G8 and G20 Summits.

Summit Outcomes

GCE published a press release following the G8 and G20 Summits. It expressed deep disappointment in both the G8 and G20 in not addressing education in any substantial way.³⁷⁴ No new commitments were made to remunerate for the shortcomings. GCE had also hoped to see development on a global financial tax, which also saw no progress. The press release looked forward to a better outcome at the November Seoul G20 Summit.³⁷⁵

GCE did not hold campaigns or events directly addressing the G8 or G20 in 2010. It did, however, remain highly active following the Canadian G8 and G20. Just following the Summits, GCE published its annual 2010 School Reports, grading the progress of world leaders on key education landmarks. Canada was ranked 9th overall. They also released 'Back to School?' in September, a substantial report outlining the worst places a child could go to school, as well as achievements necessary for the realized of EFA goals. It ranked Somalia and the earthquakedevastated Haiti as the worst places for a child to be a student. It noted key successes such as Kenya, where only 0.1 million children are out of school down from 3.1 million in 1999. The report made a case for the primacy of education over simply poverty reduction, argued that any sustainable solution towards escaping poverty necessitates the education of children. 377

In September 2010, the UN Summit for achieving the MDG goals was held. Major NGOs, state actors, International Financial Institutions, and many from the private sector were invited for numerous formal meetings and roundtables to assess the realities of achieving MDGs by 2015, and looking ahead to what must be accomplished. 378 Numerous major publications were produced in coordination with state and non-state actors. GCE's 1GOAL campaign had an individual event addressing the Summit. 379 It called attention to the success of the 1GOAL campaign so far and stipulated future needs. Queen Rania of Jordan addressed the Summit, alongside a speech delivered by 1GOAL's 12-year-old ambassador, Nthabiseng, from Soweto. 380 Eighteen million signatures of 1GOAL supporters, gathered since the inception of the campaign, were presented at

G8 Research Group's Report on Civil Society and the 2010 G8 Muskoka Summit ©2011

³⁷³ "Bounced Cheques Undermine G8's Credibility" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011.

http://www.oxfam.ca/node/2092
374 "G20 Must Not Sideline Education in Soeul Agenda" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011 http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/press_release/G20%20Pr%20En.pdf

³⁷⁵ "G20 Must Not Sideline Education in Soeul Agenda" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011 http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/press_release/G20%20Pr%20En.pdf

³⁷⁶ Africa: Primary Education Pays Off, Africa Focus Date of Access: 25 December 2010. http://allafrica.com/stories/201010120659.html

³⁷⁷ "G20 Must Not Sideline Education in Soeul Agenda" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011 http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/press_release/G20%20Pr%20En.pdf

^{378 &}quot;UN secures \$40 billion for women's and children's health" United Nations. Date of Access: 9 January 2011 http://www.un.org/en/mdg/summit2010/index.shtml

³⁷⁹ High Level Plenary Meeting on the Millenium Development Goals. United Nations. 12 November 2010. Date of Access: 12 January 2011

http://www.un.org/en/mdg/summit2010/pdf/HLPM%202010 CRP Side%20events.pdf

^{380 &}quot;G20 Must Not Sideline Education in Soeul Agenda" Oxfam Canada. Date of Access: 9 January, 2011 http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/press_release/G20%20Pr%20En.pdf

the Summit. Another event, the High-Level Round Table, brought together global leaders to form a nexus on addressing EFA goals and establishing a link between education and development. Save the Children was one of the key organizers of the event.³⁸¹

Also in September, GCE released a press release on International Literacy Day 2010, urging world leaders to concentrate on the EFA goal of halving the number of illiterate individuals in the world. Highlighting data from the 2010 UNESCO MDG Monitoring Report, released in February, they said that the goal would be missed by a large margin, with 710 million still illiterate people in 2015, should business remain as usual for donor countries. A GCE press release, calling attention to the lasting effects of the global financial crisis, raised alarms in November. It used the example of Mozambique where the government has started to consider cutting funding from the education sector. It warned that if donor countries did not step up their commitments to EFA-FTI, more poor countries will be forced to shut down schools and dismiss teachers, as FTI funding dries. The press release argues that at the current rate, there might even be more children out of school in 2015, than there are at present.

_

http://www.un.org/en/mdg/summit2010/pdf/HLPM%202010 CRP Side%20events.pdf

³⁸¹ High Level Plenary Meeting on the Millenium Development Goals. United Nations. 12 November 2010. Date of Access: 12 January 2011

³⁸² "International Literacy Day: GCE Demands Rights for the 759 Million Illiterate Adults" Global Campaign for Education. 8 September 2010. Date Accessed: 25 December 2010. http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/GCE_DOCS/ILD%20Press%20Release%20F.p.

df
383 "Financial Crisis Now Hits Schools and Teachers in Poor Countries" Global Campaign for Education. 9
November 2010. Date Accessed: 25 December 2010.

 $[\]frac{http://www.campaignforeducation.org/images/stories/Files/press_release/PRESS\%20RELEASE\%20Moza_mbique.docx_release/PRESS\%20RELEASE\%20Moza_release/PRESS\%20Moza_release/PRE$